LKQ CORP Form DEF 14A March 23, 2012 Table of Contents

# **UNITED STATES**

# SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

# **SCHEDULE 14A INFORMATION**

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of

	the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No. )						
Filed	Filed by the Registrant x						
Filed	by a Party other than the Registrant "						
Chec	Check the appropriate box:						
	Preliminary Proxy Statement						
	Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))						
X	Definitive Proxy Statement						
	Definitive Additional Materials						
	Soliciting Material under §240.14a-12						
	LKQ Corporation						

(Name of registrant as specified in its charter)

 $(Name\ of\ person(s)\ filing\ proxy\ statement,\ if\ other\ than\ the\ registrant)$ 

Pay	Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):					
x	No f	ee required.				
	Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.					
	(1)	Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:				
	(2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:				
	(3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):				
		the filling fee is calculated and state now it was determined).				
	(4)	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:				
	(5)	Total fee paid:				

# **Table of Contents**

 Fee j	paid previously with preliminary materials.				
 Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.					
(1)	Amount Previously Paid:				
(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:				
(3)	Filing Party:				
(4)	Date Filed:				

#### **Table of Contents**

March 23, 2012

#### **Dear Fellow Stockholder:**

You are cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of LKQ Corporation at 135 South LaSalle Street, 43rd Floor, Chicago, Illinois 60603 at 1:30 p.m., Central Time, on May 7, 2012.

This Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement describe the business to be transacted at the meeting and provide other information concerning LKQ that you should be aware of when you vote your shares.

The principal business of the Annual Meeting will be to elect directors, to ratify the appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm, to amend our 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, to amend our Long Term Incentive Plan, and to hold an advisory vote on executive compensation. We also plan to review the status of the Company s business at the meeting and answer any questions you may have.

It is important that your shares are represented at the Annual Meeting whether or not you plan to attend. To ensure that you will be represented, we ask that you vote your shares as soon as possible.

On behalf of the Board of Directors and management, we would like to express our appreciation for your investment in LKQ Corporation.

Sincerely,

Joseph M. Holsten Robert L. Wagman

Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer

#### NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

### TO BE HELD ON MAY 7, 2012

Notice is hereby given that the 2012 Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of LKQ Corporation will be held at 135 South LaSalle Street, 43rd Floor, Chicago, Illinois 60603 on Monday, May 7, 2012 at 1:30 p.m., Central Time. The purpose of our 2012 Annual Meeting is to:

- 1. Elect nine directors for the ensuing year.
- 2. Ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2012.
- 3. Approve an amendment to our 1998 Equity Incentive Plan to explicitly allow participation by non-employee directors and to increase the number of shares of our common stock available for issuance under the plan by 544,417, in connection with adjustments to the compensation arrangements for our non-employee directors.
- 4. Approve an amendment to our Long Term Incentive Plan to allow adjustments to the target goals thereunder due to unusual, atypical or non-recurring items.
- 5. Hold an advisory vote on executive compensation.
- 6. Transact such other business as may be properly brought before the 2012 Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the 2012 Annual Meeting.

We are pleased to take advantage of the Securities and Exchange Commission rule allowing companies to furnish proxy materials to stockholders over the Internet. We believe that this e-proxy process lowers our costs and reduces the environmental impact of our 2012 Annual Meeting. On or about March 23, 2012, we began mailing to certain stockholders a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials containing instructions on how to access our proxy materials and how to vote online. All other stockholders will receive the proxy materials by mail.

You can vote at the 2012 Annual Meeting in person or by proxy if you were a stockholder of record on March 8, 2012. Whether or not you plan to attend, please review our proxy materials and submit your vote by proxy. Instructions for voting are included in this Proxy Statement and in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials. You may revoke your proxy at any time prior to its use at the 2012 Annual Meeting.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Victor M. Casini

Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate

Secretary

March 23, 2012

YOU ARE URGED TO MARK, DATE AND SIGN THE ENCLOSED PROXY AND RETURN IT PROMPTLY.

THE PROXY IS REVOCABLE AT ANY TIME PRIOR

TO ITS USE.

### LKQ CORPORATION

### PROXY STATEMENT

### ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

### TO BE HELD ON MAY 7, 2012

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	Page
INTRODUCTION	1
GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING	1
Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Stockholder Meeting to be Held on Monday, May 7, 2012	1
Date, Time and Place of the Meeting	1
Purpose of the Meeting Who Can Vote	1 2
How You Can Vote	2
How the Board Recommends that You Vote	2
How You May Revoke or Change Your Vote	3
Ouorum Requirement	3
Vote Required	3
Discretionary Voting and Adjournments	4
PROPOSAL NO. 1 ELECTION OF OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS	5
Nominees	5
Nominating Process	9
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE	9
Board Leadership Structure	9
Role of Board of Directors in Our Risk Management Process	9
<u>Director Independence</u>	10
<u>Director Attendance</u>	10
<u>Director Stock Ownership Guidelines</u>	10
Committees of the Board	10
Stockholder Communications with the Board of Directors	11
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	12
<u>DIRECTOR COMPENSATION</u>	12
<u>Director Fees</u>	12
Stock Option and Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors	13
Indemnification  Division of the Company of the Com	13
<u>Director Compensation Table</u>	13
PROPOSAL NO. 2 APPOINTMENT OF OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	14
Audit Fees and Non-Audit Fees	14
Policy on Audit Committee Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services	14
Report of the Audit Committee	15
PROPOSAL NO. 3 AMENDMENT TO OUR EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN	16
<u>Description of the Plan</u>	16
Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan	19
PROPOSAL NO. 4 AMENDMENT TO OUR LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN	21
Description of the Plan	21

i

# **Table of Contents**

	Page
PROPOSAL NO. 5 ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	23
OTHER PROPOSALS	23
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS	24
<u>Introduction</u>	24
Objectives of Our Compensation Programs	24
What Our Compensation Programs are Designed to Reward	25
Elements of Our Compensation Programs, Why We Chose Each Element, and How We Determine the Amount of Each Element	25
Compensation of our Chief Executive Officers	27
Retirement Plans	28
Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control	29
<u>Indemnification</u>	31
Impact of Regulatory Requirements	31
Risks Relating to our Compensation Policies and Practices.	32
Compensation Committee Report	32
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION COMPENSATION TABLES	33
Summary Compensation Table	33
Grants of Plan-Based Awards for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011	34
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011	35
Option Exercises and Stock Vested for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011	36
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011	36
OTHER INFORMATION	38
Principal Stockholders	38
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance	39
<u>Certain Transactions</u>	39
Solicitation of Proxies	39
Delivery of Proxy Materials to Households	39
Submitting Your Proposals for the 2013 Annual Meeting	40
<u>General</u>	40
Appendix A - LKQ Corporation 1998 Equity Incentive Plan	A-1
Appendix R. I. V.O. Corporation Long Term Incentive Plan	D 1

ii

#### INTRODUCTION

We have sent you this Proxy Statement because our Board of Directors is soliciting your proxy to vote your shares of the common stock of LKQ Corporation at our upcoming annual meeting of stockholders for 2012 (the 2012 Annual Meeting ). In this Proxy Statement, the words LKQ, Company, we, our, ours, and us refer to LKQ Corporation and its subsidiaries.

In accordance with rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC), the information below included under the captions Report of the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee Report will not be deemed to be filed or to be proxy soliciting material or incorporated by reference in any prior or future filings by us under the Securities Act of 1933 (the Securities Act) or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act).

#### GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Stockholder Meeting to be Held on Monday, May 7, 2012.

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 (the 2011 Annual Report ) and this Proxy Statement are available at:

http://investor.lkqcorp.com/phoenix.zhtml?c=147311&p=proxy.

Pursuant to rules adopted by the SEC, we have elected to provide access to our proxy materials over the Internet. Accordingly, we are sending a Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials to the owners of our stock. All stockholders have the ability to access our proxy materials on the website referred to in the Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials or request to receive a printed set of our proxy materials. Instructions on how to access our proxy materials over the Internet or to request a printed copy of our proxy materials may be found in the Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials. In addition, stockholders may request to receive proxy materials in printed form on an ongoing basis. We believe this process should expedite your receipt of our proxy materials and reduce the environmental impact of the 2012 Annual Meeting. We are mailing the Notice Regarding Availability of Proxy Materials to our stockholders on or about March 23, 2012.

#### Date, Time and Place of the Meeting

The 2012 Annual Meeting will be held on Monday, May 7, 2012, at 1:30 p.m., Central Time, at 135 South LaSalle Street, 43rd Floor, Chicago, Illinois 60603. To obtain directions to attend the meeting, please contact our Corporate Secretary. Our principal executive offices are located at 500 West Madison Street, Suite 2800, Chicago, Illinois 60661 (telephone: 312-621-1950).

#### **Purpose of the Meeting**

The purpose of the 2012 Annual Meeting is to vote on the following:

- 1. The election of nine directors, each to serve for a term of one year ending at the 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders;
- 2. The ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2012;
- 3. An amendment to our 1998 Equity Incentive Plan to explicitly allow participation by non-employee directors and to increase the number of shares of our common stock available for issuance under the plan by 544,417, in connection with adjustments to the compensation arrangements for our non-employee directors;

1

#### **Table of Contents**

- 4. An amendment to our Long Term Incentive Plan to allow adjustments to the target goals thereunder due to unusual, atypical or non-recurring items:
- 5. On an advisory basis, executive compensation; and
- 6. The transaction of any other business properly brought before the 2012 Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the 2012 Annual Meeting.

#### Who Can Vote

Stockholders of record at the close of business on March 8, 2012, the record date, will be entitled to notice of and to vote at the 2012 Annual Meeting or any adjournment or postponement of the meeting. As of March 8, 2012, there were 147,330,796 shares of our common stock outstanding. Each share of our common stock is entitled to one vote on each matter to be voted on at the meeting.

#### How You Can Vote

You may vote in one of the following three ways:

By the internet

Go to <u>www.proxyvote.com</u> 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, and follow the instructions. You will need the 12-digit control number that is included in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, proxy card or voting instruction form that is sent to you. The internet voting system allows you to confirm that the system has properly recorded your votes. This method of voting will be available up until 11:59 p.m. EDT, on May 6, 2012.

By telephone

On a touch-tone telephone, call toll-free 1-800-454-8683, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, and follow the instructions. You will need the 12-digit control number that is included in the Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials, proxy card or voting instruction form that is sent to you. As with internet voting, you will be able to confirm that the system has properly recorded your votes. This method of voting will be available up until 11:59 p.m. EDT, on May 6, 2012.

By mail

If you are a stockholder of record and you elect to receive your proxy materials by mail, you can vote by marking, dating and signing your proxy card exactly as your name appears on the card and returning it by mail in the postage-paid envelope that will be provided to you. If you hold your shares in street name and you elect to receive your proxy materials by mail, you can vote by completing and mailing the voting instruction form that will be provided by your bank, broker or other nominee. You should mail the proxy card or voting instruction form in plenty of time to allow delivery prior to the meeting. Do not mail the proxy card or voting instruction form if you are voting over the internet or by telephone.

If you vote before the 2012 Annual Meeting, the named proxies will vote your shares as you direct. If you send in your proxy card or voting instruction form or use Internet voting but do not specify how you want to vote your shares, the proxies will vote your shares in accordance with how the Board of Directors recommends that you vote as set forth below under How the Board Recommends that You Vote.

#### How the Board Recommends that You Vote

The Board of Directors unanimously recommends that you vote:

FOR all of the nominees for election to the Board of Directors in Proposal One Election of our Board of Directors;

FOR Proposal Two ratification of the appointment of our independent registered public accounting firm;

FOR Proposal Three approval of the amendment to the LKQ Corporation 1998 Equity Incentive Plan;

FOR Proposal Four approval of the amendment to the LKQ Corporation Long Term Incentive Plan; and

FOR Proposal Five approval, on an advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers. How You May Revoke or Change Your Vote

If you are a stockholder whose shares are registered in your name, you may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted by one of the following methods:

Submitting another proper proxy with a more recent date than that of the proxy first given by following the Internet voting instructions or completing, signing, dating and returning a proxy card;

Sending written notice of revocation to our Corporate Secretary; or

Attending the 2012 Annual Meeting and voting by ballot.

If you hold your shares through a broker, bank or other nominee, you may revoke your proxy by following instructions the broker, bank or other nominee provides.

#### **Quorum Requirement**

The presence at the 2012 Annual Meeting, in person or represented by proxy, of a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock as of the record date will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the 2012 Annual Meeting. Shares represented by broker non-votes and by proxies marked Abstain are counted in determining whether a quorum is present for the transaction of business at the 2012 Annual Meeting. A broker non-vote is a proxy submitted by a broker that does not indicate a vote for some or all of the proposals because the broker does not have discretionary voting authority on certain types of proposals and has not received instructions from its client as to how to vote on a particular proposal.

### **Vote Required**

For Proposal One Election of our Board of Directors, you may vote for or withhold your vote with respect to each director. The election of directors will be decided by the affirmative vote of a plurality of shares of our common stock as of the record date present in person or represented by proxy at the 2012 Annual Meeting. Plurality means the nine individuals who receive the greatest number of votes cast for are elected as directors.

For Proposals Two through Five, you may vote for, against or abstain with respect to each proposal. Each proposal will be decided by the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares, present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the 2012 Annual Meeting. However, Proposal Five is an advisory vote only. Abstentions are counted in tabulations of the votes cast on proposals presented to stockholders. Thus, an abstention from voting on a matter has the same legal effect as a vote against that matter. Broker non-votes and directions to withhold authority are counted as present, but are deemed not entitled to vote on proposals for which brokers do not have discretionary authority and, therefore, have no effect other than to reduce the number of affirmative votes needed to approve a proposal.

We have appointed a representative of Broadridge Financial Solutions as our independent inspector of election. The representative will determine whether a quorum is present and will tabulate all votes cast at our 2012 Annual Meeting.

#### **Discretionary Voting and Adjournments**

We currently are not aware of any business to be acted upon at the 2012 Annual Meeting other than that described in this Proxy Statement. If, however, other matters properly are brought before the 2012 Annual Meeting, or any adjournment or postponement of the 2012 Annual Meeting, your proxy includes discretionary authority on the part of the individuals appointed to vote your common stock or act on those matters according to their best judgment, including to adjourn the 2012 Annual Meeting.

Adjournment of the 2012 Annual Meeting may be made for the purpose of, among other things, soliciting additional proxies. Any adjournment may be made from time to time by approval of the holders of common stock representing a majority of the votes present in person or by proxy at the 2012 Annual Meeting, whether or not a quorum exists, without further notice other than by an announcement made at the 2012 Annual Meeting. We currently do not intend to seek an adjournment of the 2012 Annual Meeting.

4

#### PROPOSAL NO. 1

#### ELECTION OF OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS

#### Nominees

Nine directors are to be elected at the meeting. We have designated the persons named below as nominees for election as directors. If elected, they will serve for a term expiring at our annual meeting of stockholders in 2013. All of the nominees are serving as directors as of the date of this Proxy Statement.

Unless you otherwise instruct us, your properly executed proxy that is returned in a timely manner will be voted for election of these nine nominees. If, however, any of these nominees should be unable or should fail to act as a nominee because of an unexpected occurrence, your proxy will be voted for such other person as the holders of your proxy, acting in their discretion, may determine. In the alternative, the Board of Directors may reduce the number of directors to be elected.

The names of the nominees, and certain information about them, are set forth below.

Name	Age	<b>Director Since</b>	Position(s)
A. Clinton Allen	68	May 2003	Lead Independent Director
Kevin F. Flynn	44	May 2008	Director
Ronald G. Foster	70	October 2007	Director
Joseph M. Holsten	59	November 1998	Chairman of the Board
Blythe J. McGarvie	55	March 2012	Director
Paul M. Meister	59	February 1999	Director
John F. O Brien	68	July 2003	Director
Robert L. Wagman	47	November 2011	President and Chief Executive Officer
William M. Webster, IV	54	June 2003	Director

Biographical information concerning our nine nominees is presented below.

A. Clinton Allen. Mr. Allen currently is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of A.C. Allen & Company, a holding company. Mr. Allen was Vice Chairman of Psychemedics Corporation, a provider of drug testing services, from October 1989 until March 2002, and Chairman of Psychemedics Corporation from March 2002 until November 2003. Mr. Allen was Vice Chairman and a director of The DeWolfe Companies, Inc., a real estate company, from 1991 until it was acquired by Cendant Corporation in September 2002. Additionally, he was a director and member of the executive committee of Swiss Army Brands Inc., a worldwide company selling knives, watches and related accessories, from 1995 until it was acquired by Victorinox Corporation in August 2002. Mr. Allen is the non-executive Chairman of Collector s Universe, Inc., a provider of services and products to dealers and collectors of high-end collectibles; a director of Brooks Automation, a provider of automation technology to the semiconductor industry; and Vice Chairman and a director of Avantair, Inc., a seller and manager of fractional ownerships of professionally piloted aircraft. In March 2011, Mr. Allen was elected as our Lead Independent Director. Mr. Allen holds a Masters Professional Director Certification from the American College of Corporate Directors.

The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Allen should serve as a director of LKQ include his expertise in the areas of corporate governance and responsibility, audit practices and executive compensation. His qualifications in these areas have helped us formulate our corporate governance principles. Mr. Allen also serves on both our Audit Committee and our Compensation Committee because of his knowledge in these areas.

**Kevin F. Flynn.** Mr. Flynn is and has been the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Emerald Ventures, Inc., a private investment holding and financial advisory company, since 1996. He also is and has been the Chairman of Renovo Services, LLC, a national collateral recovery company specializing in vehicle transition

management, investigations, collections and remarketing, since September 2005. Since June 1995, he has been the President of Flynn Enterprises, Inc., a venture capital, hedging and consulting firm. Mr. Flynn was the Chief Executive Officer of Emerald Casino, Inc., a former holder of a license to operate a casino in the State of Illinois, from June 1999 to August 2002. In January 2001, the Illinois Gaming Board issued an initial decision seeking to revoke Emerald s license. In June 2002, certain creditors filed a bankruptcy petition against Emerald. The bankruptcy court confirmed a plan of reorganization in July 2004. In May 2005, the Illinois Gaming Board reversed its decision to support the plan of reorganization and revoked Emerald s license. The bankruptcy case and a related adversary proceeding (in which Mr. Flynn is a defendant) are pending. Mr. Flynn was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Blue Chip Casino, Inc., from February 1997 until November 1999 when it was sold to Boyd Gaming Corporation. Mr. Flynn previously was a member of our Board of Directors from February 1999 to May 2003.

The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Flynn should serve as a director of LKQ include his exceptional knowledge regarding general business transactions (including mergers and acquisitions), capital markets, capital raising transactions, operations, government affairs and financial statement analysis. Mr. Flynn has been involved in a myriad of business ventures, including video store ownership, franchising indoor children s playgrounds, casino gaming and asset repossession. Mr. Flynn has had a particular focus on the capital-raising aspects of these businesses. In addition, Mr. Flynn was instrumental in the initial formation of LKQ, was a member of our Board of Directors from February 1999 to May 2003, and has assisted us in connection with certain of our acquisitions. These experiences, as well as his own significant ownership position in the company, bring a unique and valuable perspective to matters facing LKQ.

Ronald G. Foster. Mr. Foster was the Chairman of the Board of Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc. from August 2000 until October 2007 when we acquired Keystone. In October 2007, Mr. Foster was elected to our Board of Directors pursuant to a covenant in the Keystone acquisition agreement wherein we committed to add two Keystone directors to our Board of Directors. Mr. Foster has been a consultant since he left the automotive segment of Tenneco, Inc. in October 1993, where he specialized in acquisitions, joint ventures, turnaround situations and quality systems such as QS9000. For the prior 25 years, he held various positions within the automotive segment, most recently as the Senior Vice President of Tenneco Automotive and General Manager of Monroe Auto Equipment Company, the world slargest manufacturer of ride control systems.

The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Foster should serve as a director of LKQ include his extensive experience managing businesses in the automotive parts industry in both the original equipment and replacement part segments, his role as Chairman of the Board of Keystone Automotive Industries, Inc., and his knowledge of SEC and other regulatory requirements for publicly-traded companies.

Joseph M. Holsten. Mr. Holsten has been our Chairman of the Board since November 2011. He joined us in November 1998 as our President and Chief Executive Officer. He was elected to our Board of Directors in February 1999. In November 2010, Mr. Holsten was appointed as Vice Chairman of our Board of Directors. On January 1, 2011, his officer position changed to Co-Chief Executive Officer as part of his transition to retirement. He retired from his officer position in January 2012. Prior to joining us, Mr. Holsten held various positions of increasing responsibility with the North American and International operations of Waste Management, Inc. for approximately 17 years. From February 1997 until July 1998, Mr. Holsten served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of Waste Management, Inc. From July 1995 until February 1997, he served as Chief Executive Officer of Waste Management International, plc where his responsibility was to streamline operating activities. Prior to working for Waste Management, Mr. Holsten was a staff auditor at a public accounting firm. Mr. Holsten also has served since May 2009 as a member of the Board of Directors of Covanta Holding Corporation, a holding company in the energy-from-waste solutions and insurance products business.

The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Holsten should serve as a director of LKQ include primarily his unparalleled knowledge of our business and our industry. Mr. Holsten has been with us almost since our inception and from that time has become intimately familiar with

6

all aspects of our business, including in particular operational and financial matters. His knowledge and experience provide a critical component for the proper functioning of our Board. Mr. Holsten also brings to our Board his significant operational experience from his key positions at Waste Management. He also brings financial accounting skills to our Board through his prior work at a public accounting firm.

Blythe J. McGarvie. Ms. McGarvie has served as Chief Executive Officer and Founder of Leadership for International Finance since 2003, offering strategic reviews and leadership seminars for improved decision-making for corporate and academic groups. From 1999 to 2002, she was the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of BIC Group, a publicly-traded consumer goods company with operations in 36 countries. From 1994 to 1999, Ms. McGarvie was the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Hannaford Bros. Co., a Fortune 500 retailer. She also serves on the board of directors of Viacom Inc., a global entertainment content company, and Accenture plc, a global management consulting, technology services and outsourcing company. Ms. McGarvie holds a Professional Director Certification from the American College of Corporate Directors.

The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Ms. McGarvie should serve as a director of LKQ include her significant experience in the fields of finance and accounting and her international experience, which is particularly relevant to the Company due to our recent expansion into the U.K. In addition, she has served on publicly-traded companies as a board member since 2001 and has considerable experience with corporate governance matters.

Paul M. Meister. Mr. Meister is Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of inVentiv Health, Inc., a leading global provider of results-driven clinical, consulting and commercial services to the biopharmaceutical and healthcare industries. In addition, Mr. Meister is Chief Executive Officer and Co-Founder of Liberty Lane Partners, LLC, a private investment firm utilizing its broad-based experience in operating and financial management. He formerly was Chairman of the Board of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., a provider of products and services to businesses and institutions in the field of science, which was formed by the merger of Fisher Scientific International Inc. and Thermo Electron Corporation in November 2006. Mr. Meister was Vice Chairman of Fisher Scientific International Inc. from 2001 to 2006, and served as its chief financial officer from 1991 to 2001. Fisher Scientific International provided products and services to research, healthcare, industrial, educational and government markets. Mr. Meister is Co-Chair of the University of Michigan s Life Sciences Institute External Advisory Board and serves on the Executive Advisory Board of the Chemistry of Life Processes Institute at Northwestern University.

The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Meister should serve as a director of LKQ include his executive positions with an S&P 500 company, including Chairman of the Board and Chief Financial Officer, and his MBA in Finance and Accounting. Mr. Meister provides sound judgment and discernment to our Board from the experience gained in his key roles with Fisher Scientific International and Thermo Fisher Scientific. His ten years as a Chief Financial Officer and his MBA in Finance and Accounting give him the skills to serve in the important role of our audit committee financial expert.

John F. O Brien. Mr. O Brien retired in 2002 as the Chief Executive Officer of Allmerica Financial Corporation, a public insurance company. In addition to serving on our Board of Directors, he is a director and non-executive chairman of Cabot Corporation, a global specialty chemicals corporation; the Lead Director of The TJX Companies, Inc., an off-price retailer of apparel and home fashions; and a director of a family of 35 registered investment companies managed by BlackRock, an investment management advisory firm. From June 1989 to August 2006, Mr. O Brien was a director of Abiomed, Inc., a developer and manufacturer of cardiovascular products. From August 1989 to November 2002, Mr. O Brien was President and Chief Executive Officer of Allmerica Financial Corporation. From 1968 to 1989, Mr. O Brien held several positions at Fidelity Investments, including Group Managing Director of FMR Corporation (from 1986 to 1989), Chairman of Institutional Services Company (from 1986 to 1989) and Chairman of Brokerage Services, Inc. (from 1984 to 1989). Mr. O Brien holds a Professional Director Certification from the American College of Corporate Directors.

7

The specific experience, qualifications, attributes, and skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. O Brien should serve as a director of LKQ include his tenure as the President and CEO of a Fortune 500 insurance company and over 35 years of experience in the insurance and investment management industries. His insurance and financial experience provide him with skills and knowledge that he is able to contribute to our Board s oversight with regard to LKQ s relationship with the insurance industry. Moreover, he is able to provide oversight with regard to budgeting, financial planning, and the appropriate financial strength and capital structure of the Company. Mr. O Brien s continuing education regarding corporate governance matters in part led to his election as the chairman of our Governance/Nominating Committee.

Robert L. Wagman. Mr. Wagman became our President and Chief Executive Officer on January 1, 2012. He was elected to our Board of Directors on November 7, 2011. Mr. Wagman was our President and Co-Chief Executive Officer from January 1, 2011 to January 1, 2012. Prior thereto, he had been our Senior Vice President of Operations Wholesale Parts Division, with oversight of our wholesale late model operations, since August 2009. Prior thereto, from October 1998, Mr. Wagman managed our insurance company relationships, and from February 2004, added to his responsibilities the oversight of our aftermarket product operations. He was elected our Vice President of Insurance Services and Aftermarket Operations in August 2005. Before joining us, Mr. Wagman served from April 1995 to October 1998 as the Outside Sales Manager of Triplett Auto Parts, Inc., a recycled auto parts company that we acquired in July 1998. He started in our industry in 1987 as an Account Executive for Copart Auto Auctions, a processor and seller of salvage vehicles through auctions.

The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Wagman should serve as a director of LKQ include his vast experience and knowledge regarding the operations of our company and the industry in which we operate. He has been with our company for close to 14 years and has been involved in our industry for almost 25 years. This experience and knowledge makes Mr. Wagman a key contributor to the deliberations of the Board of Directors. In addition, Mr. Wagman is the primary management liaison to the Board of Directors in his position as our Chief Executive Officer.

William M. Webster, IV. Mr. Webster is the co-founder and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Advance America, Cash Advance Centers, Inc., the largest payday advance lender in the United States. Prior to founding Advance America in 1997, Mr. Webster was part of the Bush-Clinton transition team and subsequently served the Clinton Administration in various capacities, including Chief of Staff to the Secretary of Education, Richard W. Riley, and as Assistant to the President and Director of Scheduling and Advance in the White House. Mr. Webster is a director and the chairman of the Audit Committee of Golub Capital BDC, LLC, an externally managed, closed-end, non-diversified management investment company. Mr. Webster is the past President and a Founding Board Member of the Community Financial Services Association (CFSA), the national trade association for payday advance lenders. Mr. Webster holds a Professional Director Certification from the American College of Corporate Directors.

The specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills that led to the conclusion that Mr. Webster should serve as a director of LKQ include his experience as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Advance America, Cash Advance Centers, Inc. and his past service as a member of the Board of Advisors of Golub Capital, an affiliate of Golub Capital BDC, LLC and a leading provider of financing solutions for the middle market. These roles give Mr. Webster a unique perspective with respect to financing matters involving LKQ. Mr. Webster also graduated from the University of Virginia Law School, and he brings to our Board of Directors analytical skills developed through his legal education.

We recommend that you vote FOR the election

of each of the nominees for director.

8

#### **Nominating Process**

The Governance/Nominating Committee will consider recommendations for nominees for directorships submitted by stockholders and will apply the same evaluation to such recommendations submitted by stockholders as to recommendations submitted by any other person or entity. The Governance/Nominating Committee operates under a written charter, which is available on our corporate website at <a href="https://www.lkqcorp.com">www.lkqcorp.com</a>. The charter includes a statement of the competencies and personal attributes of nominees to the Board of Directors to be used as a guideline in connection with their evaluation.

Some of the competencies and personal attributes that the Governance/Nominating Committee considers include a nominee s experience, general judgment and knowledge, grasp of the Company s business, understanding of the function of the Board to represent stockholders interests, willingness to devote adequate time to board duties, ability to effectively communicate, and demonstration of vision and leadership. In identifying nominees for director, the Governance/Nominating Committee seeks persons with diverse and complementary (as opposed to overlapping) competencies and attributes. The Governance/Nominating Committee does not favor or disfavor any particular nominee on the basis of race, religion, gender, age or national origin.

Stockholders who wish the Governance/Nominating Committee to consider their recommendations for nominees for the position of director should submit their recommendations in writing to the Governance/Nominating Committee in care of the Corporate Secretary of the Company at the Company s principal executive offices, as described in the section below entitled Submitting Your Proposals for the 2013 Annual Meeting.

#### CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

#### **Board Leadership Structure**

We have different persons in the roles of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Holsten has been our Chairman of the Board since November 2011. Mr. Wagman has been our Chief Executive Officer since January 2012. We believe that this leadership structure is appropriate for our Company because our Chairman of the Board and our Chief Executive Officer complement each other in their common objective of leading our Company to success. Mr. Holsten has led our company as its top executive since November 1998. He assumed the Chairman of the Board position shortly after the death of Donald Flynn and retired from his officer position in January 2012. Mr. Holsten brings to the Chairman of the Board position a great deal of experience operating companies and also has a strong financial accounting background. Mr. Wagman has worked in our industry for over 24 years and adds his extensive knowledge of the operations side of our business. Messrs. Holsten and Wagman are able to apply their different yet complementary strengths to give the Board of Directors a unique perspective with respect to the key business issues that arise and help the Board to make well-informed decisions regarding such issues.

On March 7, 2011, A. Clinton Allen was designated by our Board of Directors as our Lead Independent Director. Mr. Allen leads the executive sessions of our independent directors and focuses particular attention on our corporate governance matters. We believe that in fulfilling this role Mr. Allen complements the strengths of our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer described above and strengthens our Board s leadership.

#### Role of Board of Directors in Our Risk Management Process

We have well developed processes in place to manage our key strategic, operational, financial, and compliance risks. Our entire Board of Directors is responsible for monitoring and evaluating the risks we face and our risk management processes. We implement our risk management processes through the periodic disclosure to the Board of such risks by each of our Chairman of the Board and our Chief Executive Officer and other appropriate executives (including our Chief Financial Officer and our General Counsel) with respect to such matters as acquisitions, capital raising transactions, financial accounting matters and legal issues. In

9

addition, our annual strategic planning and budgeting process includes identification of risks and a sensitivity analysis, which is reviewed with our Board. Our Internal Audit department develops a risk-based audit plan annually that is reviewed with our Audit Committee, along with the results of internal audit reviews and activities. We believe that the Board s oversight of risks is enhanced by our leadership structure because the Board often receives more than one point of view regarding the risks, thereby leading to a more thorough analysis of the matter.

#### **Director Independence**

The Board, following consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances and upon recommendation of the Governance/Nominating Committee, has affirmatively determined that each nominee for election as a director (except Messrs. Holsten and Wagman) is independent in that each such person has no material relationship with the Company, our management or our independent registered public accounting firm, and otherwise meets the independence and other requirements of the listing standards of NASDAQ, the rules and regulations of the SEC and applicable law. The Board determined that Mr. Holsten is not independent due to his status as an executive officer of the Company through December 31, 2011 and his ongoing consulting arrangement, and that Mr. Wagman is not independent due to his status as a current executive officer of the Company.

#### **Director Attendance**

The Board held six meetings (four regular and two special) during fiscal 2011. Each incumbent director attended at least 75% of the aggregate total number of meetings held by the Board and all committees on which such director served. At each of its regular meetings, the independent members of the Board typically hold executive sessions without management present. Three executive sessions were held in 2011.

We encourage all of our directors to attend our annual meeting of stockholders, and we customarily schedule a regular Board meeting on the same day as our annual meeting. All persons who were directors at the time attended our annual meeting of stockholders in 2011.

#### **Director Stock Ownership Guidelines**

Our Board adopted stock ownership guidelines for non-employee directors providing that each such director is expected to hold the number of shares of LKQ common stock that have a market value at least equal to three times the annual cash compensation received by such director for serving on the Board. In March 2012, the Board amended the guidelines to provide that the amount of shares each non-employee director is expected to hold will be 10,000 and to provide that such ownership amount would be obtained within five years after first becoming subject to the guidelines. The complete guidelines can be found on our website at <a href="https://www.lkqcorp.com">www.lkqcorp.com</a> (select the Investor Relations link and then the Governance link).

### **Committees of the Board**

Our Board has four standing committees. They are the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee, the Governance/Nominating Committee and the Government Affairs Committee. The Board reviews and determines the membership of the committees at least annually, with input from the Governance/Nominating Committee. The following table sets forth the membership of the committees.

			Governance/	Government
	Audit	Compensation	Nominating	Affairs
Name	Committee	Committee	Committee	Committee
A. Clinton Allen	Member	Chairman		
Kevin F. Flynn	Member			Chairman
Ronald G. Foster		Member		Member
Blythe McGarvie	Member		Member	
Paul M. Meister	Chairman	Member		
John F. O Brien		Member	Chairman	
William M. Webster IV			Member	Member

The functions and membership of each committee are described below.

Audit Committee. The Audit Committee s functions include selecting our independent registered public accounting firm and recommending that firm for ratification by stockholders; reviewing the arrangements for, and scope of, the independent registered public accounting firm s examination of our financial statements; meeting with the independent registered public accounting firm and certain of our officers to review the adequacy and appropriateness of our system of internal control and reporting, our critical accounting policies, and our public financial disclosures; ensuring compliance with our codes of ethics; and performing any other duties or functions deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors.

All of the Audit Committee members satisfy the independence, financial literacy, and expertise requirements of the rules of NASDAQ. Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Meister satisfies the requirements for an audit committee financial expert under the rules and regulations of the SEC. The Audit Committee operates pursuant to a charter, which is available on our corporate website at *www.lkqcorp.com*. The Audit Committee met eight times during 2011. Kevin F. Flynn was appointed to the Audit Committee on March 7, 2011.

Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee is responsible for establishing and making recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding compensation to be paid to our executive officers and is responsible for the administration and interpretation of, and the granting of awards under, our incentive compensation plans. All of the Compensation Committee members are independent as defined in NASDAQ s listing standards. The Compensation Committee operates pursuant to a charter, which is available on our corporate website at <a href="https://www.lkgcorp.com">www.lkgcorp.com</a>. The Compensation Committee met four times during 2011.

The compensation of our executive officers is determined through a process involving our Chairman of the Board, our Chief Executive Officer and our Compensation Committee. Our Chairman of the Board typically determines the proposed compensation of our Chief Executive Officer. Our Chief Executive Officer typically determines the proposed compensation of the remaining executive officers.

The Compensation Committee holds a meeting near the beginning of each calendar year to consider the proposed compensation amounts for that year and to make final determinations. The executive officers are not present during the deliberations and final decisions by the Compensation Committee concerning executive compensation (except for the General Counsel who serves as the corporate secretary of the meeting).

Governance/Nominating Committee. The Governance/Nominating Committee is responsible for developing policies and processes designed to provide for effective and efficient governance by the Board of Directors and for identifying qualified individuals and nominating such individuals for membership on the Board of Directors and its committees. All of the members of the Governance/Nominating Committee are independent as defined in NASDAQ s listing standards. The Governance/Nominating Committee operates pursuant to a charter, which is available on our corporate website at www.lkqcorp.com. The Governance/Nominating Committee met three times during 2011.

Government Affairs Committee. The responsibilities of the Government Affairs Committee are to monitor our compliance with regulatory requirements, to oversee any significant legislative or regulatory issues affecting us, and to provide guidance with respect to our initiatives involving federal and state governments. The Government Affairs Committee operates pursuant to a charter, which is available on our corporate website at <a href="https://www.lkqcorp.com">www.lkqcorp.com</a>. The Government Affairs Committee met four times in 2011.

#### Stockholder Communications with the Board of Directors

Stockholders desiring to contact the Board of Directors or any committee of the Board should address the communication to LKQ Corporation, 500 West Madison Street, Suite 2800, Chicago, Illinois 60661, Attention: Corporate Secretary, with a request to forward the communication to the intended recipient. All such communications will be forwarded unopened.

11

#### **Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation**

The Compensation Committee is currently composed of Messrs. Allen, Foster, Meister and O Brien. It determines the compensation of our executive officers. None of Messrs. Allen, Foster, Meister or O Brien is or was an officer or employee of the Company nor are they officers of any entity for which one of our executive officers served as a director or makes compensation decisions.

#### DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

#### **Director Fees**

In 2011, each of our non-employee directors received compensation of \$31,250 each calendar quarter for serving on the board. Non-employee directors also received the following quarterly amounts for serving on committees of the board: \$6,250 and \$3,750 by each of the chairman and the other members of the Audit Committee, respectively; \$3,750 and \$2,500 by each of the chairman and the other members of the Governance/Nominating Committee, respectively; and \$3,000 and \$2,000 by each of the chairman and the other members of the Government Affairs Committee, respectively. In addition, the Chairman of the Board received a quarterly compensation amount of \$12,500, and our Lead Independent Director received a quarterly compensation amount of \$6,250.

Donald Flynn, Kevin Flynn and Joseph Holsten were members of the Executive Committee in 2011. The Executive Committee was terminated as of November 7, 2011. Donald Flynn received \$6,250 each calendar quarter as compensation for serving on the Executive Committee until his death on October 10, 2011. Kevin Flynn received \$6,250 each calendar quarter as compensation for serving on the Executive Committee until the committee was terminated. Mr. Holsten had ceased receiving compensation for serving on the Executive Committee as of January 1, 2011.

In May 2011, each of our non-employee directors received an award of 1,892 restricted stock units ( RSUs ). The RSUs vest with respect to one-third of the units on each one-year anniversary of the grant date over a total of three years.

In March 2012, the Board of Directors changed director compensation by decreasing the quarterly cash compensation for each director from \$31,250 to \$25,000 and adding, subject to stockholder approval of Proposal No. 3, an annual equity grant with a value equal to \$100,000. The equity grant would vest one year after the date of issuance. Receipt of one half of the equity grant would be deferred for each director until the date that the director resigns or retires from the board. The other items of director compensation (fees for committee membership, for the Chairman of the Board and for the Lead Independent Director) were not changed.

Each director has the option, by making an election by December 31 of each year, to receive the cash portion of director compensation for the following calendar year in shares of our common stock instead of cash. Each of Messrs. Flynn and Meister elected to receive his compensation for 2011 in shares of our common stock. Mr. Foster elected to receive fifty percent of his compensation for 2011 in shares of our common stock. Directors are also reimbursed for their out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with serving on our Board.

In 2010, the Compensation Committee engaged Pearl Meyer & Partners, a compensation consulting firm, to review non-employee director compensation. The Compensation Committee directed Pearl Meyer to prepare a report analyzing the level of our director compensation compared to the director compensation of similarly- situated companies. Pearl Meyer issued its report in August 2010. The report covered director compensation trends, peer group and broader market compensation comparisons, and recommendations regarding director compensation. The director compensation described above was based in part on the Pearl Meyer report.

#### Stock Option and Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors

In 2003, our Board of Directors adopted and our stockholders approved the Stock Option and Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the Director Plan ). As of March 8, 2012, a total of 544,417 shares of our common stock remained available for issuance under the Director Plan. On March 5, 2012, our Board of Directors approved, subject to the approval of our stockholders, an amendment to the LKQ Corporation 1998 Equity Incentive Plan (the Equity Incentive Plan ) (1) to explicitly allow non-employee directors to be eligible participants thereunder, (2) to add a provision giving non-employee directors the right to receive shares of our common stock under the Equity Incentive Plan in lieu of director cash compensation, (3) to increase the shares available for issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan by 544,417 (representing the remaining shares available under the Director Plan), and (4) to make certain updating amendments to the Equity Incentive Plan (as more fully described under Proposal No. 3 Amendment to Our Equity Incentive Plan ). The Board of Directors further approved the termination of the Director Plan other than with respect to any options currently outstanding under the Director Plan, subject to the approval by our stockholders of the Equity Incentive Plan amendment.

#### Indemnification

Each member of our Board of Directors is a party to an indemnification agreement with us that assures the director of indemnification and advancement of expenses to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law and our Certificate of Incorporation.

### **Director Compensation Table**

The following table provides compensation information for the one year period ended December 31, 2011 for each of our non-employee directors that served during 2011.

					Change in		
					Pension		
					Value and		
	Fees	Stock		Non-Equity	Nonqualified		
	Earned			Incentive	Deferred		
	or Paid in	Awards	Option	Plan	Compensation	All Other	
Name	Cash	(4)	Awards	Compensation	Earnings	Compensation	Total
A. Clinton Allen	\$ 180,000	\$ 50,015					\$ 230,015
Robert M. Devlin (1)	\$ 84,500	\$ 50,015					\$ 134,515
Donald F. Flynn (2)	\$ 150,000	\$ 50,015					\$ 200,015
Kevin F. Flynn (3)	\$ 173,332	\$ 50,015					\$ 223,347
Ronald G. Foster (3)	\$ 135,000	\$ 50,015					\$ 185,015
Paul M. Meister (3)	\$ 158,000	\$ 50,015					\$ 208,015
John F. O Brien	\$ 152,217	\$ 50,015					\$ 202,232
William M. Webster IV	\$ 141,000	\$ 50,015					\$ 191,015

- (1) Mr. Devlin retired as a member of our Board of Directors effective as of July 20, 2011.
- (2) Donald Flynn served as a director until his death on October 10, 2011.
- (3) Each of Messrs. Meister and Kevin Flynn elected to receive 100%, and Mr. Foster elected to receive 50%, of his director fees in shares of our common stock in accordance with the Director Plan.
- (4) The amounts represent the grant date fair value calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification 718, Compensation Stock Compensation ( FASB ASC Topic 718 ).

13

#### PROPOSAL NO. 2

#### APPOINTMENT OF OUR INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Subject to stockholder ratification, the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors has selected the accounting firm of Deloitte & Touche LLP to serve as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2012. Deloitte & Touche has served as our independent registered public accounting firm since July 1998 and also has provided non-audit services from time to time.

#### **Audit Fees and Non-Audit Fees**

The following table summarizes the fees and expenses of Deloitte & Touche LLP, the member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and their respective affiliates for audit and other services for the periods indicated.

	2010	2011
Audit Fees	\$ 1,697,300	\$ 1,969,000
Audit-Related Fees	297,510	283,400
Tax Fees	616,444	319,389
All Other Fees		
Total Audit and Non-Audit Fees	\$ 2,611,254	\$ 2,571,789

For 2010, audit services consisted of the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements, the review of our quarterly consolidated financial statements, and the audit of internal controls over financial reporting as required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Audit-related services included work regarding assistance with acquisition due diligence and review of our SEC comment letter response. Tax services included federal, state and foreign tax compliance, research and planning. Tax compliance fees totaled \$220,300 in 2010.

For 2011, audit services consisted of the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements, the review of our quarterly consolidated financial statements, the audit of internal controls over financial reporting as required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and foreign statutory audits. Audit-related services included work regarding assistance with acquisition due diligence and providing a consent to incorporate Deloitte & Touche LLP s report into our registration statement on Form S-8. Tax services included federal, state and foreign tax compliance, research and planning. Tax compliance fees totaled \$169,576 in 2011.

#### Policy on Audit Committee Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services

The Audit Committee s policy is to approve all audit and permissible non-audit services prior to the engagement of our independent registered public accounting firm to provide such services. The Audit Committee approves, at the beginning of each year, pursuant to detailed approval procedures, certain specific categories of permissible non-audit services. Such procedures include the review of (i) a detailed description by our independent registered public accounting firm of the particular services to be provided and the estimated fees for such services and (ii) a report to the committee on at least a quarterly basis regarding the services provided and the fees paid for such services. The Audit Committee must approve on a project-by-project basis any permissible non-audit services that do not fall within a pre-approved category and any fees for pre-approved permissible non-audit services that materially exceed the previously approved amounts. In making the determinations about non-audit services, the Audit Committee considers whether the provision of non-audit services is compatible with maintaining the auditor s independence.

Representatives of Deloitte & Touche LLP will be available at the 2012 Annual Meeting to respond to your questions. They have advised us that they do not presently intend to make a statement at the 2012 Annual Meeting, although they will have the opportunity to do so.

We recommend that you vote FOR ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP

as our independent registered public accounting firm for 2012.

Table of Contents 26

14

#### **Report of the Audit Committee**

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibility to oversee management s implementation of LKQ s financial reporting process. In discharging its oversight role, the Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with management and Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, our audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011. Management is responsible for those financial statements and the reporting process, including the system of internal control. The independent registered public accounting firm is responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of those financial statements with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

The Audit Committee has discussed with Deloitte & Touche LLP the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as amended (AICPA, *Professional Standards*, Vol. 1. AU section 380), as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) in Rule 3200T. The Audit Committee has also received from Deloitte & Touche LLP the written disclosures and the letter required by applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding Deloitte & Touche LLP s communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence. The Audit Committee also considered whether the provision of non-audit services by Deloitte & Touche LLP was compatible with maintaining Deloitte & Touche LLP s independence.

Based upon the foregoing review and discussions, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the audited financial statements referred to above be filed with LKQ s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011.

In compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Board of Directors has established procedures for the confidential reporting of employee concerns with regard to accounting controls and auditing matters. All members of the Audit Committee meet the independence standards established by NASDAQ.

Audit Committee (as of March 4, 2012):

A. Clinton Allen Kevin F. Flynn Paul M. Meister John F. O Brien

15

#### PROPOSAL NO. 3

#### AMENDMENT TO OUR EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

In 1998, our Board of Directors adopted and our stockholders approved the Equity Incentive Plan. The purpose of adopting the Equity Incentive Plan was to enable us to offer certain executives, key personnel and other persons affiliated with us equity-based incentives, including stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, RSUs, performance units and performance shares. As of March 8, 2012, a total of 6,648,855 shares of our common stock remained available for issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan.

In 2003, our Board of Directors adopted and our stockholders approved the Director Plan. The purpose of adopting the Director Plan was to enable us to offer non-employee directors stock-based incentives, including the grant of stock options and the right to receive shares of our common stock in lieu of director cash compensation. As of March 8, 2012, a total of 544,417 shares of our common stock remained available for issuance under the Director Plan. In 2007, the Board of Directors amended the Director Plan to eliminate the annual grant of stock options to non-employee directors thereunder.

The Board of Directors desires to reinstate the annual grant of equity awards to non-employee directors and believes that such awards should be granted under the Equity Incentive Plan, which provides more alternative forms of equity-based incentives and would allow grants of equity awards to both non-employee directors and employees to be administered through one plan. The Board of Directors also wishes to make certain updating revisions to the Equity Incentive Plan. On March 5, 2012, our Board of Directors approved, subject to the approval of our stockholders, an amendment to the Equity Incentive Plan (1) to explicitly allow non-employee directors to be eligible participants thereunder, (2) to add a provision giving non-employee directors the right to receive shares of our common stock under the Equity Incentive Plan in lieu of director cash compensation, and (3) to increase the shares available for issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan by 544,417 (representing the remaining shares available under the Director Plan). In addition, the proposed amendment to the Equity Incentive Plan would (i) prohibit the repricing of options or stock appreciation rights without stockholder approval, (ii) remove from the definition of period of restriction certain minimum time periods previously applicable to awards of restricted stock, and (iii) make certain other updating revisions to the Equity Incentive Plan. The Board of Directors further approved the termination of the Director Plan other than with respect to any options currently outstanding under the Director Plan, subject to the approval by our stockholders of the Equity Incentive Plan amendment.

#### **Description of the Plan**

A brief description of the Equity Incentive Plan, as proposed to be amended, is set forth below and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the plan, a copy of which is attached to this Proxy Statement as Appendix A.

*Purpose.* The purpose of the Equity Incentive Plan is to benefit us by allowing us to offer stock-based incentives to persons providing services to us. Under the plan, we may grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, RSUs, performance units and performance shares.

Administration. The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors has the authority to administer the Equity Incentive Plan. The Compensation Committee s authority includes the selection of the persons who receive awards granted under the plan, the determination of the size and types of awards, and the interpretation of the plan and any agreement entered into under the plan. Our employees, including our named executive officers, our non-employee directors, and other persons providing services to us are eligible to participate in the plan.

Shares Subject to the Plan. The Equity Incentive Plan provides a maximum of 34,944,417 shares of our common stock that may be subject to awards granted under the plan. Shares subject to awards granted under the plan that are returned as payment for the exercise price or tax withholding amount relating to the awards, or with respect to which awards expire or are forfeited or are paid in cash, would again be available for grant under the plan. Unless the Compensation Committee determines otherwise, the maximum number of shares subject to

16

#### **Table of Contents**

options and SARs granted under the plan to any of our named executive officers in any fiscal year is 300,000, the maximum number of shares subject to other awards granted under the plan to such persons (other than cash-denominated performance units) is 300,000, and the maximum aggregate cash payout under the plan to such persons in any fiscal year is \$3,000,000.

Stock Options. The Compensation Committee may grant options to purchase shares of our common stock to participants on terms and subject to conditions established by the committee, except that the exercise price must be at least equal to the fair market value of the underlying common stock and the term of the option must not exceed ten years. The committee can grant incentive stock options within the meaning of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code or non-qualified stock options that do not fall under the provisions of Section 422. Options become vested and exercisable at such times and in such amounts as determined by the committee. Participants can pay the exercise price in cash, by delivering shares of our common stock having a market value equal to the exercise price, or by a combination of cash and the delivery of shares.

The Compensation Committee may establish the extent to which participants can exercise stock options following the participant s separation from service with us. In the event the committee does not establish different terms, the following separation provisions apply: if the participant s separation from service is due to death or disability, the participant s stock options become fully vested and remain exercisable until the expiration of the option; if the participant s separation from service is due to retirement, all stock options that were vested at the time of such separation remain exercisable until the earlier of three years after separation or the expiration of the option; if the participant s separation from service is otherwise without cause, all stock options that were vested at the time of such separation remain exercisable for 30 days; and if the participant s separation from service is otherwise for cause, all of the participant s stock options expire immediately.

Stock Appreciation Rights. The Compensation Committee may grant stock appreciation rights either in tandem with a related option (a Tandem SAR) or independently of any option (a Freestanding SAR). A Tandem SAR requires the participant to elect between the exercise of the underlying option for shares of common stock or the surrender of the option and the exercise of the related stock appreciation right. A Tandem SAR is exercisable only at the time and only to the extent that the related stock option is exercisable, while a Freestanding SAR is exercisable at such times or upon such events and subject to such terms, conditions, performance criteria or restrictions as are specified by the committee. The exercise price of each stock appreciation right may not be less than the fair market value of a share of our common stock on the date of grant. Upon the exercise of any stock appreciation right, the participant is entitled to receive an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the underlying shares of common stock as to which the right is exercised over the aggregate exercise price for such shares. At the committee s discretion, we may pay this amount in cash or in shares of common stock with a fair market value on the exercise date that equals the payment amount. We may make the payment in a lump sum or we may defer payment in accordance with the terms of the participant s award agreement. The maximum term of any stock appreciation right granted under the plan is ten years. The terms pursuant to which a participant can exercise a stock appreciation right following the participant s separation from service with us are determined in the same manner as stock options.

Restricted Stock. The Compensation Committee may grant shares of restricted stock under the Equity Incentive Plan. The committee has the discretion to establish periods during which the shares of restricted stock may not be sold or otherwise transferred or pledged until certain restrictions lapse or are terminated. Restrictions may lapse in full or in installments on the basis of the participant s continued service or other factors, such as the attainment of performance goals established by the committee. A participant will forfeit any restricted stock as to which the restrictions have not lapsed prior to the participant s separation from service unless the separation is due to death or disability. Participants holding restricted stock will have the right to vote the shares and to receive all dividends and other distributions relating to such stock, except that the committee may apply a vesting period or other restrictions to any dividends or other distributions.

Restricted Stock Units. The Compensation Committee may grant RSUs. An RSU represents a right to receive a share of our common stock over a specified vesting period. The committee has the discretion to establish conditions pursuant to which the RSU would be forfeited during the vesting period. A participant will forfeit unvested RSUs upon separation from service unless the separation is due to death or disability.

17

Participants holding RSUs do not have the rights of a stockholder with respect to the common stock subject to the RSUs (including the right to receive dividends and to vote) until the lapse of the applicable vesting period; however, awards of RSUs may include dividend equivalents with such terms as the Compensation Committee may approve. Dividend equivalents may be paid currently or may be deemed to be reinvested in additional shares of our common stock. Dividend equivalents with respect to RSUs subject to performance based vesting may not be payable before those RSUs have become earned and payable.

Performance Units and Performance Shares. The Compensation Committee may grant awards under the Equity Incentive Plan that provide payouts to the recipient that depend upon the extent to which performance goals established by the committee are met during a predetermined performance period. We call these awards performance units or performance shares. The plan provides that payments of earned performance units or performance shares will be made in a single lump sum and may be paid in cash or with shares of our common stock with a market value equal to the payment amount. In the event of a participant s separation from service with us due to death, disability or retirement, the committee has the discretion to authorize a prorated payment based on the length of time that the participant held the performance units or performance shares and on the achievement of the performance goals prior to separation. In the event of a participant s separation from service with us for any other reason, the participant forfeits all performance units and performance shares.

Non-Employee Director Compensation. Non-employee directors will have the right to elect to receive compensation otherwise payable to them in cash in connection with their duties as members of our Board (or any committee thereof) in whole or in part in shares of our common stock issued under the Equity Incentive Plan.

Change of Control. The Equity Incentive Plan defines a change of control of LKQ Corporation as any one of the following: any merger, consolidation, reorganization, or sale of the Company in which the stockholders immediately prior to the transaction do not retain immediately after the transaction at least 50% ownership of the Company; a person or entity files a report with the Securities and Exchange Commission disclosing beneficial ownership of 50% or more of the Company; or the replacement of the persons who constitute a majority of our Board of Directors in any two year period unless each new director was approved by at least two-thirds of the directors who were in office at the start of the two-year period. Upon a change of control, awards under the Equity Incentive Plan become immediately exercisable, restrictions thereon lapse and maximum payout opportunities are deemed earned, as the case may be, as of the effective date of the change of control.

Amendment and Termination. Our Board of Directors may amend or terminate the Equity Incentive Plan in whole or in part at any time, subject to applicable law, rule or regulation. No amendment, modification or termination of the Equity Incentive Plan can adversely affect in any material way any award previously granted, without the written consent of the participant. The repricing of options or stock appreciation rights is prohibited without prior approval of our stockholders.

18

Awards Granted to Certain Persons. In January 2012, the Compensation Committee granted RSUs to certain of our employees, including our named executive officers, under the Equity Incentive Plan. The following table sets forth the numbers of shares of common stock subject to the RSUs granted to each of the persons indicated below. See the table entitled Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End for the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011 on page 35 for additional information concerning awards granted to our named executive officers under the Equity Incentive Plan. The closing sale price per share of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market on March 8, 2012 was \$31.28.

	Number of
Name and position	Shares
Joseph M. Holsten, Chairman of the Board	45,000
Robert L. Wagman, President and Chief Executive Officer	90,000
John S. Quinn, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer	47,500
Victor M. Casini, Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary	44,500
Walter P. Hanley, Senior Vice President Development	44,500
Michael S. Clark, Vice President Finance and Controller	7,500
All executive officers as a group	244,000
All directors (who are not executive officers)	45,000
All employees (excluding executive officers as a group)	432,100

#### Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan

Options. The grant of an incentive stock option or a non-qualified stock option will not result in income for the optionee or a deduction for us.

The exercise of a non-qualified stock option will result in ordinary income for the optionee and a deduction for us measured by the difference between the option price and the fair market value of the shares of our common stock received at the time of exercise. Income tax withholding will be required.

The exercise of an incentive stock option will not result in income for the optionee if the optionee (i) does not dispose of the shares within two years after the grant date or one year after the transfer of shares upon exercise and (ii) is an employee of the Company or a subsidiary of the Company from the grant date and through and until three months before the exercise date. If these requirements are met, then upon a later disposition of the shares of common stock received through an option exercise, the basis of the shares will be the option price, any gain will be taxed to the employee as long-term capital gain, and we will not be entitled to a deduction. For purposes of the alternative minimum tax, the excess of the market value on the exercise date over the option price is treated as an adjustment to the optionee s alternative minimum taxable income and may result in additional tax liability to the optionee.

If an optionee who has exercised an incentive stock option disposes of the shares before the expiration of either of the holding periods, the optionee will recognize ordinary income and we will be entitled to a deduction equal to the lesser of the fair market value of the shares on the exercise date minus the option price or the amount realized on disposition minus the option price. Any gain in excess of the ordinary income portion will be taxable to the optionee as long-term or short-term capital gain.

SARs and Performance Unit/Performance Share Awards. The grant of an SAR or a performance unit or performance share will not result in income for the grantee or a deduction for us. Upon the exercise of an SAR or the receipt of shares of common stock under a performance unit or performance share, the recipient will recognize ordinary income and we will be entitled to a deduction measured by the fair market value of the shares of common stock received. Income tax withholding will be required.

Restricted Stock Grants. The grant of shares of restricted stock should not result in income for the grantee or in a deduction for us for federal income tax purposes, assuming the shares are subject to restrictions resulting

#### **Table of Contents**

in a substantial risk of forfeiture. If there are no such restrictions, the grantee will recognize ordinary income upon receipt of the shares and we will be entitled to a deduction. Any dividends paid to the grantee while the common stock remains subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture will be treated as compensation for federal income tax purposes. At the time the restrictions lapse, the grantee will receive ordinary income and we will be entitled to a deduction measured by the fair market value of the shares at the time of lapse. Income tax withholding will be required.

Restricted Stock Units. The grant of RSUs will not result in income for the grantee or in a deduction for us for federal income tax purposes. As the RSUs vest and shares are issued to the grantee, the grantee will be required to recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to the fair market value of the shares at such time, and generally we will be entitled to a compensation deduction in the same amount. We will be required to withhold taxes on the income to the grantee.

The current maximum U.S. federal tax rate on long-term capital gains of individuals is 15%. The current maximum U.S. federal tax rate on ordinary income and short-term capital gains of individuals is 35%. Qualified dividend income received by an individual is currently taxed at the U.S. federal rate of 15%. U.S. state and local tax rates, and foreign national and provincial tax rates, vary widely by jurisdiction.

In connection with any taxable event arising as a result of awards granted under the Plan, a participant may elect, subject to Compensation Committee approval, to have us withhold shares of common stock having a fair market value on the date the tax is to be determined equal to the minimum statutory withholding tax that would be imposed on the transaction. Such an election must be made in writing, signed by the participant, will be irrevocable, and will be subject to any restrictions or limitations that the committee, in its discretion, deems appropriate.

We recommend that you vote For the amendment to the Equity Incentive Plan.

20

#### PROPOSAL NO. 4

#### AMENDMENT TO OUR LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

In 2006, our Board of Directors adopted and our stockholders approved the LKQ Corporation Long Term Incentive Plan (the LTIP). The purpose of the LTIP is to offer to certain key employees the opportunity to receive long term awards based on our financial performance over three year periods as measured by the growth of our earnings per share, revenue and return on equity. In 2011, our stockholders re-approved the LTIP (without amendment) as required under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code to ensure that certain incentive awards granted under the LTIP qualify as tax-deductible performance-based compensation.

Under the LTIP, the target goals of earnings per share, revenue and return on equity are measured by referring to the financial results disclosed in our financial statements. Subject to the approval of our stockholders, our Board of Directors has adopted an amendment to the LTIP to provide, for purposes of calculating whether the target goals have been achieved, for adjustments to the financial results by objectively determinable amounts due to unusual, atypical or non-recurring items. The purpose of seeking stockholder approval of the amendment is to allow the Board of Directors to include such potential adjustments in awards granted under the LTIP while remaining in compliance with Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. These potential adjustments would be established by the Compensation Committee, as the administrator of the LTIP, on or before the latest possible date that would not jeopardize the qualification of awards under the LTIP as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. The amendment also makes certain updating changes.

### **Description of the Plan**

A brief description of the LTIP, as proposed to be amended, is set forth below and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the plan, a copy of which is attached to this Proxy Statement as Appendix B.

Administration. The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors has the authority to administer the LTIP. The authority of the Compensation Committee includes the selection of the persons who participate in the plan, the determination of performance objectives that must be met to receive an award payment under the plan, and the interpretation of the terms of the plan and of the awards granted under the plan.

Participants. The Compensation Committee may select officers and other key persons to participate in the plan, including our executive officers. The Compensation Committee will select the officers and key persons to participate whose participation will contribute, in the opinion of the committee, to an increase in stockholder value. Approximately 30 persons are part of the class of employees who are currently eligible to participate in the plan.

Performance Awards. Each participant in the LTIP will be entitled to a performance award for each performance period under the plan. Performance periods will begin on January 1 and end on December 31 of the third calendar year thereafter. Performance awards will be equal to the participant s base salary (at the end of the applicable performance period) multiplied by an Award Percentage. A participant s Award Percentage is determined by three components: the growth over the performance period of each of our earnings per share, our total revenue, and our return on equity. The Compensation Committee will determine for each participant the range of Award Percentages based on different growth scenarios of the components. On or before the latest possible date that will not jeopardize the qualification of awards for treatment as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, the Compensation Committee shall have the discretion to include or exclude unusual, atypical or non-recurring items in determining the award components for a particular performance period.

Cash and Deferred Payments. One-half of any performance award achieved is payable promptly after the end of the applicable performance period. A participant must be an employee or other key person of the Company at the end of the performance period to be eligible for the first 50% payment. The other half of the

performance award is deferred and payable in three equal installments (plus interest) on each one year anniversary of the end of the performance period over a total of three years. A participant must be an employee or other key person of the Company on each such anniversary date to be eligible for the respective deferred payment, unless the participant is not an employee or other key person as a result of death, total disability or normal retirement at age 65, in which case the participant (or his or her estate) will be entitled to all of the

deferred payments upon such death, disability or retirement. Interest on the deferred portion of the performance award will accrue at the prime rate and be payable to the participant at the same time as the deferred installments are paid.

Maximum Award. The maximum amount that can be paid to a participant under the Long Term Incentive Plan with respect to any performance period is \$3 million.

Change of Control. In the event of a change of control of the Company as defined in our Equity Incentive Plan (or as defined pursuant to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code for purposes of certain deferred payments), all performance periods are deemed to end as of the end of the calendar quarter coincident with or next following the change of control, each performance award will vest, the Compensation Committee will calculate the amount of each such performance award (taking into account the decreased length of the performance period and the time value of money because of early payment), and the performance awards will be paid to the participants.

Termination or Amendment. The Compensation Committee may terminate or amend the plan at any time. No such termination or amendment can affect a participant s right to receive a vested performance award under the plan.

Performance Awards for Certain Persons. The following table sets forth the range of percentages of base salary that may be paid under the plan to each of our named executive officers who received an award for the current performance period (January 1, 2012 to December 31, 2014). The actual amount paid, if any, will depend on the achievement of the growth targets of our earnings per share, total revenue and return on equity and may be less than the low end of the range if thresholds are not achieved for one or more of these targets.

Name and positionAward PercentagesRobert L. Wagman, President and Chief Executive Officer192.5-275John S. Quinn, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer175-250Victor M. Casini, Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary175-250Walter P. Hanley, Senior Vice President Development175-250Michael S. Clark, Vice President Finance and Controller70-100

We recommend that you vote For the amendment to the Long Term Incentive Plan.

#### PROPOSAL NO. 5

#### ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The guiding principles of our compensation policies and decisions include aligning each executive s compensation with our business strategy and the interests of our stockholders and providing incentives needed to attract, motivate and retain key executives who are important to our long-term success. Consistent with this philosophy, a significant portion of the total incentive compensation for each of our executives is directly related to our earnings and to other performance factors that measure our progress against the goals of our strategic and operating plans.

Stockholders are urged to read the Executive Compensation Compensation Discussion and Analysis and Executive Compensation Compensation Tables sections of this Proxy Statement, which discuss how our compensation design and practices reflect our compensation philosophy. The Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors believe that our compensation design and practices are effective in implementing our guiding principles.

We are required to submit a proposal to stockholders for a (non-binding) advisory vote to approve the compensation of our named executive officers pursuant to Section 14A of the Exchange Act. This proposal, commonly known as a say-on-pay proposal, gives our stockholders the opportunity to express their views on the compensation of our named executive officers. This vote is not intended to address any specific item of compensation, but rather the overall compensation of our named executive officers and the principles, policies and practices described in this Proxy Statement. Accordingly, the following resolution is submitted for stockholder vote at the 2012 Annual Meeting:

RESOLVED, that the stockholders of LKQ Corporation approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of its named executive officers as disclosed in the Proxy Statement for the 2012 Annual Meeting, including the Summary Compensation Table and the Compensation Discussion and Analysis set forth in such Proxy Statement and other related tables and disclosures.

As this is an advisory vote, the result will not be binding on us, the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee, although our Compensation Committee will consider the outcome of the vote when evaluating our compensation principles, design and practices. Proxies submitted without direction pursuant to this solicitation will be voted FOR the approval of the compensation of our named executive officers, as disclosed in this Proxy Statement.

We recommend that you vote For the approval, on an advisory basis, of the compensation of our named executive officers, as disclosed in this Proxy Statement.

#### OTHER PROPOSALS

We know of no matters to be brought before the 2012 Annual Meeting other than those described above. If any other business should properly come before the meeting, we expect that the persons named in the enclosed proxy will vote your shares in accordance with their best judgment on that matter.

23

#### EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

#### Introduction

The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors evaluates and determines the compensation of our executive officers. The Compensation Committee also authorizes equity incentive grants to our key employees. The current members of our Compensation Committee are A. Clinton Allen, Ronald G. Foster, Paul M. Meister and John F. O Brien. All of the members of the Compensation Committee are independent as defined in the rules of NASDAQ.

Management provides to the Compensation Committee historical compensation information relating to our executive officers to aid the deliberations of the Compensation Committee regarding executive officer compensation. The information typically includes historical and proposed base salaries, bonuses, long term incentive awards, equity-based awards, and any other material component of compensation or perquisite. The Compensation Committee takes into account the historical trend of each element of compensation and the total of all of the elements for each year in connection with its decisions about proposed compensation amounts. Commencing in 2011, we submitted to our stockholders a proposal for a (non-binding) advisory vote to approve the compensation of our named executive officers. In 2011, over 97% of the shares that were voted on this proposal approved the compensation of our named executive officers. The Compensation Committee considered the outcome of this vote when evaluating our compensation principles, designs and practices and decided to continue for 2012 our compensation principles, designs and practices largely unchanged compared to 2011 due in part to the level of stockholder support.

The Compensation Committee also considers the limitation imposed by Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code on our deduction for federal income tax purposes when making decisions about compensation. The Compensation Committee uses substantially the same compensation policies and considerations with respect to all of our executive officers.

We believe that our four main elements of compensation base salary, annual bonus, long-term incentive awards, and equity incentive grants together provide appropriate short-term and long-term motivation to our executive officers. We do not provide any material perquisites to our executive officers. We have entered into a consulting agreement with Joseph M. Holsten, our Chairman of the Board, the term of which commenced on January 1, 2012 when he terminated his employment with us.

The Compensation Committee has the authority to procure the services of compensation consultants if it determines that such services are necessary or desirable. In 2010, the Compensation Committee engaged Pearl Meyer & Partners, a compensation consulting firm, to review our executive officer compensation. The Compensation Committee directed Pearl Meyer to prepare a report analyzing the level of our executive officer compensation compared to the compensation of executive officers of similarly-situated companies. Pearl Meyer issued its report in August 2010. The report covered the methodology of Pearl Meyer s review, comparisons of our executive officer compensation to market data, incentive practices among a peer group, dilution and overhang considerations with respect to equity-based awards, and recommendations regarding executive officer compensation. The Compensation Committee reviewed the report and has taken, and intends to take, it into account in connection with the Compensation Committee s periodic analysis of executive officer compensation. Other than the reports relating to executive officer compensation and director compensation, Pearl Meyer did not provide any additional services to the Company during 2010 or 2011

#### **Objectives of Our Compensation Programs**

Our compensation programs are intended to enable us to attract, motivate, reward and retain the management talent needed to achieve our corporate objectives in a highly competitive industry, and thereby increase stockholder value. It is our policy to provide incentives to the Company s senior management to achieve both short-term and long-term goals. To attain these goals, our policy is to provide a significant portion of

24

executive compensation in the form of at-risk, incentive-based compensation. We believe that such a policy, which directly aligns the financial interests of management with the financial interests of our stockholders, provides the proper incentives to attract, motivate, reward and retain high quality management.

The Compensation Committee has maintained this policy since we became a public company in October 2003 and believes that the policy has been and continues to be appropriate for a growing company like ours. The Compensation Committee will reevaluate this policy in the event that our growth profile changes over time or in the event that the Compensation Committee identifies other reasons that warrant a change of policy.

#### What Our Compensation Programs are Designed to Reward

Our compensation programs are designed to reward the executive officers for the overall performance of our Company and the individual performance of each executive officer. Specifically, with respect to the overall performance of our Company, we have historically used the growth of the following metrics to measure performance: revenue, consolidated earnings per share, and return on equity. With respect to individual performance of an executive officer, we analyze the growth of the performance metrics that most directly relate to such individual s area of responsibility and consider certain subjective factors, including the individual s interpersonal skills, level of motivation, and ability to resolve difficult situations.

Stock price performance has not been used as a direct factor in determining executive officer compensation because the price of our common stock is subject to a variety of factors outside of the control of management. Stock price performance, however, ultimately affects the value of equity incentive awards held by executive officers, thus aligning their interests with those of other stockholders.

### Elements of Our Compensation Programs, Why We Chose Each Element, and How We Determine the Amount of Each Element

The elements of our compensation programs are base salaries, annual bonus awards, long term incentive awards, and equity incentive grants. We believe that this mix of compensation elements best achieves the objectives of our compensation programs. Specifically, the compensation elements provide incentives for several different time horizons.

Base Salaries. Base salaries provide immediate rewards because they are paid periodically throughout the year. The following factors are considered in connection with the base salary of each of the executive officers: base salaries of executive officers in similar positions at comparable companies; the contributions of the executive officers to the Company s development and growth; and the executive officer s experience, responsibilities and position within the Company. No specific corporate performance measures are considered with respect to base salaries.

There is no specified list or procedure that the persons who consider these factors use to compile the information about comparable companies. They generally focus on compensation of executive officers at companies with similar revenue amounts and, when possible, at companies in similar industries. The list of comparable companies has typically included: Advance Auto Parts, Inc.; Autozone, Inc.; Copart, Inc.; and The Pep Boys Manny, Moe & Jack. The persons who consider these factors get the information primarily from publicly-available sources, including filings under the securities laws. The Compensation Committee considered the August 2010 executive compensation report of Pearl Meyer in making compensation decisions for 2011 and 2012. The Pearl Meyer report used a blend of peer group analysis and published compensation surveys for executive officers. The companies in the peer group used by Pearl Meyer were Advance Auto Parts, Inc., Steel Dynamics, Inc., Wesco International, Inc., Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc., PSS World Medical, Inc., Fastenal Company, The Pep Boys Manny, Moe & Jack, Applied Industrial Technologies, Inc., Interline Brands, Inc., and Standard Motor Products, Inc.

25

Annual Bonus Awards. We offer annual bonus awards under our Management Incentive Plan to provide incentives for superior performance over a one-year time horizon. The Management Incentive Plan was approved by our stockholders in May 2011. Under the Management Incentive Plan, each participant (including each of our executive officers) is eligible to receive a cash payment equal to a percentage of the participant s base salary. In 2011, these percentages ranged from 20% to 160% for our executive officers. The percentage of base salary ultimately paid is dependent on the achievement of specified levels of financial performance of the Company during a particular fiscal year. In 2011, the bonus payment for our executive officers was based on the Company s consolidated earnings per share. The target amounts for consolidated earnings per share are determined through our budgeting process that includes growth rates for the Company as a whole and for each region and unit, all as approved by our Board of Directors. We establish growth rates and, consequently, target amounts at levels that we determine are relatively difficult for our executive officers to achieve. In 2011, the earnings per share target was a range of \$1.32 (at which the minimum bonus would be earned) to \$1.38 (at which the maximum bonus would be earned). Our 2011 earnings per share for purposes of the bonus calculation (which included the cost of paying all 2011 bonuses) resulted in the maximum bonus amounts for our executive officers.

Long Term Incentive Awards. We grant performance awards under the LKQ Corporation Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) to certain of our key employees (including our executive officers). The LTIP was approved by our stockholders in 2006 and re-approved by our stockholders in 2011. Long term incentive awards are designed to reward performance over a three-year period and to create retention incentives. The Compensation Committee administers the LTIP. Performance periods begin on January 1 and end on December 31 of the third calendar year thereafter. Performance awards are equal to the participant s base salary multiplied by an award percentage. The award percentage is determined by the growth from the year before the commencement of the performance period (base year) to the final year of the performance period of three components: our earnings per share, our total revenue, and our return on equity. We determine for each participant the range of award percentages based on different growth scenarios of the components. We establish the growth scenarios at levels that we determine are relatively difficult for participants to achieve.

One-half of any performance award achieved is payable promptly after the end of the applicable performance period. A participant must be an employee or other key person of the Company at the end of the performance period to be eligible for the first 50% payment. The other half of the performance award is deferred and payable in three equal installments (plus interest) on each one year anniversary of the end of the performance period over a total of three years. A participant must be an employee or other key person of the Company on each such anniversary date to be eligible for the respective deferred payment, unless the participant is not an employee or key person as a result of death, total disability or normal retirement at age 65, in which case the participant (or his or her estate) will be entitled to all of the deferred payments upon such death, disability or retirement. Interest on the deferred portion of the performance award will accrue at the prime rate and be payable to the participant at the same time as the deferred installments are paid. Upon a change in control, the LTIP provides for acceleration of payments as described below under Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control.

The performance awards for the three year performance period ended December 31, 2011 ranged from 175% to 275% of base salary for our executive officers. The target growth range of the three components of these awards for that performance period was 45% to 60% for earnings per share, 30% to 40% for revenue, and 210 basis points to 300 basis points for return on equity. We weighted each of the three components of these awards as follows: 47.5% for earnings per share growth; 47.5% for revenue growth; and 5.0% for return on equity growth. Higher percentages were assigned to earnings per share growth and revenue growth because they were considered relatively more important measures of the success of our Company. For the three year performance period ended December 31, 2011, we exceeded the maximum target range for earnings per share, revenue, and return on equity. The Summary Compensation Table on page 33 sets forth under the column entitled

Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation the amounts recorded by us to the income statement relating to the LTIP for the years presented with respect to our named executive officers.

26

Equity Incentive Grants. Equity-based awards provide incentives over the longest time horizon, with most equity-based awards having five-year vesting schedules. Generally, equity-based awards are forfeited upon separation of service, providing an incentive to the employee to remain with the Company. Equity based awards are granted under the 1998 Equity Incentive Plan (the Equity Incentive Plan ). The Compensation Committee administers the Equity Incentive Plan. Under the Equity Incentive Plan, the Compensation Committee may grant stock options, restricted stock, RSUs, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, and performance units. During the life of the Equity Incentive Plan, not more than 34,400,000 (34,944,417 if Proposal No. 3 is approved by our stockholders) shares of common stock in the aggregate may be issued under the Equity Incentive Plan. As of March 8, 2012, a total of 6,648,855 (7,193,272 if Proposal No. 3 is approved by our stockholders) shares of our common stock remained available for issuance under the Equity Incentive Plan. Shares subject to awards granted under the Equity Incentive Plan that are returned as payment for the exercise price or tax withholding amount relating to the award or with respect to which awards expire or are forfeited or are paid in cash, would again be available for grant under the Equity Incentive Plan.

The Compensation Committee has the power to set the terms and conditions to which each award is subject, including the times at which it is exercisable. Notwithstanding the foregoing: (i) the exercise price of a stock option or SAR may not be less than the fair market value of our common stock on the date the award is granted; and (ii) the performance period for performance shares and performance units must be a minimum of one year.

Upon a change in control as defined in the plan, awards under the Equity Incentive Plan become immediately exercisable, restrictions thereon lapse, and maximum payout opportunities are deemed earned, as the case may be, as of the effective date of the change in control. The Board of Directors may amend or terminate the Equity Incentive Plan in whole or in part at any time, subject to applicable laws, rules, or regulations; provided, however, that the Board may not, without stockholder approval, (i) materially increase the benefits accruing to participants, (ii) materially increase the number of securities that may be issued under the Equity Incentive Plan, or (iii) materially modify the requirements for participation in the Equity Incentive Plan. No amendment, modification, or termination of the Equity Incentive Plan can adversely affect in any material way any award previously granted, without the written consent of the participant holding such award.

We grant equity awards to executive officers and other key employees typically upon their commencement of employment, in some cases upon their promotion, and annually near the beginning of each year. Currently, there is no discretion with respect to the date of the grants of stock options. The annual grants are made on the second Friday of January each year. Grants of stock options for new hires or promotions are typically made on the first trading day of the month following the month of the hire or promotion. When making grants, we consider factors specific to each employee such as salary, position and responsibilities. We also consider factors such as the rate of the Company s development and growth. In addition, we determine the amount of dilution that we believe would be generally acceptable to our stockholders and correspondingly limit the aggregate number of awards granted each year. Award grants typically are recommended by management.

The table entitled Grants of Plan-Based Awards for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011 on page 34 sets forth the grants made in 2011 under the Equity Incentive Plan to our named executive officers.

# **Compensation of Our Chief Executive Officers**

Joseph M. Holsten joined us as our President and Chief Executive Officer in November 1998 shortly after we commenced operations. On January 1, 2011, his officer position changed to Co-Chief Executive Officer as part of his transition to retirement. Robert L. Wagman joined us in July 1998 and has been in our industry for close to 25 years. Mr. Wagman has held various positions of increasing responsibility with us and on January 1, 2011, he became our President and Co-Chief Executive Officer. The annual compensation, including base salary, bonus potential, long term incentive award and equity incentive awards, of Messrs. Holsten and Wagman was determined for 2011 using substantially the same criteria that were used to determine the compensation of other executive officers.

27

### **Table of Contents**

Joseph M. Holsten. Mr. Holsten s base salary for 2011 was \$725,000. Based on the Company s consolidated earnings per share in 2011, Mr. Holsten received a bonus payment in March 2012 of \$1,160,000.

In March 2009, Mr. Holsten received a performance award under our LTIP for the performance period beginning as of January 1, 2009 and ending December 31, 2011. Based upon the financial performance of the Company during the three year period ended December 31, 2011, Mr. Holsten earned a cash award under the plan equal to 2.75 times his base salary as of December 31, 2011. We paid 50% of the award in March 2012, and we will pay the remaining 50% in three equal installments (plus interest) in late 2012, 2013 and 2014. Mr. Holsten must be employed by, or a consultant to, us at the time such payments become payable to receive them (subject to certain exceptions relating to death, disability or normal retirement).

Mr. Holsten received in January 2011 63,333 RSUs. In July 2011, 6,334 of the RSUs had vested with an aggregate value, based on the market value of LKQ common stock on July 14, 2011, of \$166,118. As of December 31, 2011, Mr. Holsten held options to purchase a total of 210,000 shares, of which 80,000 were exercisable. The value of the options to purchase the 80,000 shares, measured by the amount that the market value of LKQ common stock on the last trading day in 2011 (\$30.08) exceeded each option s exercise price, was \$855,680. Mr. Holsten received in January 2008 an award of 80,000 restricted shares. In January 2011, 16,000 of the restricted shares had vested with an aggregate value of \$372,800.

In 2011, Mr. Holsten did not receive any grants of performance shares, any material perquisites, any deferred compensation (other than pursuant to our retirement plans), or any reimbursements for the payment of taxes. In our view, Mr. Holsten s total compensation for 2011 properly reflected the Company s performance and his performance, and was in proper proportion to the compensation of our other executive officers.

Robert L. Wagman. Mr. Wagman s base salary for 2011 was \$475,000. Based on the Company s consolidated earnings per share in 2011, Mr. Wagman received a bonus payment in March 2012 of \$570,000.

In March 2009, Mr. Wagman received a performance award under our LTIP for the performance period beginning as of January 1, 2009 and ending December 31, 2011. Based upon the financial performance of the Company during the three year period ended December 31, 2011, Mr. Wagman earned a cash award under the plan equal to 2.5 times his base salary as of December 31, 2011. We paid 50% of the award in March 2012, and we will pay the remaining 50% in three equal installments (plus interest) in late 2012, 2013 and 2014. Mr. Wagman must be employed by us at the time such payments become payable to receive them (subject to certain exceptions relating to death, disability or normal retirement).

Mr. Wagman received in January 2011 95,000 RSUs. In July 2011, 9,500 of the RSUs had vested with an aggregate value, based on the market value of LKQ common stock on July 14, 2011, of \$249,151. As of December 31, 2011, Mr. Wagman held options to purchase a total of 244,000 shares, of which 184,000 were exercisable. The value of the options to purchase the 184,000 shares, measured by the amount that the market value of LKQ common stock on the last trading day in 2011 (\$30.08) exceeded each option s exercise price, was \$3,344,505. Mr. Wagman received in January 2008 an award of 20,000 restricted shares. In January 2011, 4,000 of the restricted shares had vested with an aggregate value of \$93,200.

In 2011, Mr. Wagman did not receive any grants of performance shares, any material perquisites, any deferred compensation (other than pursuant to our retirement plans), or any reimbursements for the payment of taxes. In our view, Mr. Wagman s total compensation for 2011 properly reflected the Company s performance and his performance, and was in proper proportion to the compensation of our other executive officers.

## **Retirement Plans**

We have a 401(k) plan covering substantially all of our employees, including our executive officers, who have been employed for at least six months. The 401(k) plan allows participants to defer their eligible compensation in amounts up to the statutory limit each year. We currently make matching contributions equal to

28

### **Table of Contents**

50% of the portion of the participant s contributions that does not exceed 6% of the participant s eligible compensation. We may, at our sole discretion, make annual profit-sharing contributions on behalf of participants. Each participant is fully vested in such participant s contributions and any earnings they generate. Each 401(k) participant becomes vested in our matching contributions, and any earnings they generate, in the amounts of 50%, 75% and 100% after two, three and four years of service, respectively. Each participant becomes vested in our profit sharing contributions, if any, and any earnings they generate, in the amounts of 25%, 50%, 75% and 100% after one, two, three and four years of service, respectively.

We also have two plans that supplement the 401(k) plan for highly compensated employees, or HCEs. The first supplemental plan was adopted in August 1999. In October 2004, Congress passed a law requiring certain changes to these types of plans. In March 2005, we adopted a second supplemental plan (effective as of January 1, 2005). The second supplemental plan is substantially similar to the first plan, except for changes designed to comply with the 2004 law, which relate to the timing and form of payments under the plan. The first supplemental plan remains in effect for contributions made prior to December 31, 2004. The second supplemental plan applies to contributions commencing as of January 1, 2005.

All of our executive officers are HCEs. The tax laws impose a maximum percentage of salary that can be contributed each year by HCEs to our 401(k) plan depending on the participation level of non-HCEs. We adopted the supplemental plans to provide an alternative retirement plan for the HCEs when the participation level of non-HCEs restricts the amount the HCEs would otherwise have been permitted to contribute to the 401(k) plan. The supplemental plans operate similarly to the 401(k) plan except that contributions by HCEs to the supplemental plans are not subject to the statutory maximum percentage. The balance in each HCE s account in the supplemental plans is a general asset of ours, and in the event of our insolvency, the HCE would be a general, unsecured creditor with respect to such amount.

The terms of the second supplemental plan impose a maximum annual contribution on each participant of 100% of the HCE s salary (including commissions), bonuses and long term incentive awards. In addition, the plan authorizes the Compensation Committee to set an aggregate maximum annual contribution amount. There is no such current aggregate maximum annual contribution. We periodically transfer from the plan to the 401(k) plan, on behalf of each HCE who so elects, the maximum amount (if any) that could have been contributed directly to the 401(k) plan.

## **Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control**

We have an agreement with Mr. Holsten pursuant to which he provides consulting services to us for a five year term, which commenced on January 1, 2012 when he ceased to be employed by us. The agreement may be terminated early by Mr. Holsten for any reason or by us for cause. We have agreed to pay Mr. Holsten \$290,000 annually during the term for his consulting services.

Upon a change in control, the terms of our LTIP provide that each performance period that has not ended ends as of the last day of the next calendar quarter, the performance award relating to the shortened performance period is calculated taking into account the shortened performance period, and all unpaid performance awards (relating to the shortened performance period and any other performance periods) become promptly payable. Upon a change in control, the terms of our Equity Incentive Plan provide that equity awards would become fully vested.

We have Change of Control Agreements with certain of our employees including each of our named executive officers. The terms of the agreements as in effect as of December 31, 2011 are described below.

The agreements have an initial term of three years and will automatically renew for a two-year period, unless notice of termination is given by the Company at least 60 days before any such renewal date. The operative provisions of the agreements will apply, however, only if a Change of Control, as defined in the agreements, occurs during the period the agreement is in effect.

29

If the employee s employment with the Company is terminated within two years following a Change of Control (or within 12 months prior to a Change of Control in certain circumstances) as a result of an Involuntary Termination (as defined in the agreements), then the employee will be entitled to receive payments and benefits that include the following:

Payment of salary and other compensation accrued through the termination date;

Payment of a pro rata bonus;

A severance payment equal to a multiple (two-and-one-half times in the case of Mr. Holsten and two times in the case of the other named executive officers) of the sum of the employee s (a) salary and (b) the greater of the employee s target bonus or average annual bonus over the preceding three years;

If applicable, all unreimbursed relocation expenses;

The employee and the employee s dependents will continue to be covered by the Company s health and dental care plans (for a period of 30 months in the case of Mr. Holsten and 24 months in the case of the other named executive officers);

The Company will provide the employee with outplacement services; and

The employee s outstanding equity-based compensation awards shall become vested and exercisable. If the employee s employment with the Company is terminated as a result of death or disability, the employee will be entitled to receive salary and other compensation accrued through the termination date and a pro rata bonus. If the employee s employment with the Company is terminated for Cause or the employee resigns for other than Good Reason (as those terms are defined in the agreement) the employee will be entitled to receive salary and other compensation accrued through the termination date.

The agreement also contains confidentiality obligations on the part of the employee and requires that the employee deliver a release to the Company as a condition to receiving payments of benefits under the agreement. The agreement also provides that in the event of a dispute concerning an agreement, the Company will pay the legal fees of the employee.

Under the agreements, a Change of Control would include any of the following events:

any person, as defined in the Exchange Act, acquiring 30% or more of our outstanding common stock or combined voting power of our outstanding securities, subject to certain exceptions;

during a two-year period, our current directors (or new directors approved by them) cease to constitute a majority of our board; and

a merger, consolidation, share exchange, reorganization or similar transaction involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a sale of substantially all the Company s assets, or the acquisition of assets or stock of another entity by the Company (unless following such business combination transaction a majority of the Company s directors continue as directors of the resulting entity, the holders of the outstanding voting securities of the Company immediately prior to such an event continue to own shares or other securities that represent more than 50% of the combined voting power of the resulting entity after such event in substantially the same

proportions as their ownership prior to such business combination transaction, and no person owns 30% or more of the resulting entity s common stock or voting securities).

The following table summarizes the value of the termination payments and benefits that our named executive officers would receive if they had terminated employment on December 31, 2011 under the circumstances described above. The table excludes amounts accrued through December 31, 2011 that would be paid in the normal course of continued employment, such as accrued but unpaid salary and earned annual bonus for 2011.

	Joseph M. Holsten	Robert L. Wagman	John S. Quinn	Victor M. Casini	Walter P. Hanley	Michael S. Clark
Compensation						
Cash severance	\$ 4,404,167	\$ 1,733,479	\$ 1,466,781	\$ 1,433,634	\$ 1,435,022	\$ 520,000
Long-Term Incentive						
Compensation						
Unvested and Accelerated Share Based Awards	4,431,435	3,553,435	2,589,260	1,817,238	2,120,783	296,685
Long-Term Incentive Plan	1,993,750	1,187,500	796,875	1,000,000	1,000,000	
Benefits and Perquisites (1)						
Medical and Dental Benefits (2)	48,767	54,950	54,950		54,950	19,521
Total	\$ 10,878,119	\$ 6,529,364	\$ 4,907,866	\$ 4,250,872	\$ 4,610,755	\$ 836,206

- (1) In addition to the benefits shown, each named executive officer is entitled to receive outplacement services at the expense of the Company. The amounts to be incurred by the Company for such services would be dependent on the terms and conditions of the services, which would be determined prior to the Change of Control date.
- (2) Medical and dental benefits reflect the lump sum payment to each named executive officer in the event that the terms of the Company s
  Health Plans (as defined in the agreement) do not allow participation subsequent to a Change of Control. In the event the Health Plans do
  allow participation, such benefits paid by the Company will be dependent on actual claims incurred due to the self-insured nature of the
  Company s plans. Under the terms of the agreements, medical and dental benefits are reduced to the extent that the individual becomes
  covered under a group health or dental plan providing comparable benefits. As of December 31, 2011, Mr. Casini did not participate in the
  Company s Health Plans, so no amount is disclosed for his medical and dental benefits.

Other than as described above, we do not have any pension, change in control, severance or other post-termination plans or arrangements.

#### Indemnification

Each of our executive officers is a party to an indemnification agreement with us that assures the officer of indemnification and advancement of expenses to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law and our Certificate of Incorporation.

## **Impact of Regulatory Requirements**

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code limits the deduction for federal income tax purposes of certain compensation paid in any fiscal year by a publicly-held corporation to its chief executive officer and its three other highest compensated officers (other than its chief executive officer and other than its chief financial officer) to \$1 million per executive (the \$1 million cap ). The \$1 million cap does not apply to performance-based compensation as defined under Section 162(m). We believe that annual bonuses paid under our Management Incentive Plan, stock options issued under our Equity Incentive Plan, and awards issued under our LTIP qualify as performance-based compensation, and any bonus payments or amounts paid to our executive officers pursuant to such options or awards would be exempt from the \$1 million cap.

The 2011 compensation that was not exempt under Section 162(m) for Mr. Holsten, our Co-Chief Executive Officer at December 31, 2011, exceeded the \$1 million cap by \$272,846. The compensation that is subject to the \$1 million cap paid to our other executive officers did not exceed the cap in 2011. The compensation that is subject to the \$1 million cap paid to our executive officers is not expected to exceed the \$1 million cap in 2012, except in the case of Mr. Wagman depending on the value of our common stock on the 2012 vesting dates of our RSUs. Although the Compensation Committee takes into consideration Section 162(m) when making decisions about executive compensation, there is no formal policy regarding the \$1 million cap and the compensation of our executive officers.

## Risks Relating to our Compensation Policies and Practices

We have undertaken an analysis of our compensation policies and practices to assess whether risks arising from such policies and practices are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our company. The analysis was performed by our management with oversight by the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors. We analyzed risks relating to the different components of our compensation structure, to the time horizons of our compensation components, to the goals and objectives used to determine performance-based compensation, to the disparate treatment, if any, among compensation policies and practices of our business units, and to any contractual obligations by us to accelerate the payment of compensation. Based on that analysis, we have concluded that the risks arising from our compensation policies and practices are not reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our company.

### **Compensation Committee Report**

We have reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis to be included in the Company s 2012 Annual Stockholder Meeting Schedule 14A Proxy Statement, to be filed pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act (the Proxy Statement ). Based on the review and discussions referred to above, we recommend to the Board of Directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis referred to above be included in the Proxy Statement.

### Compensation Committee (as of March 4, 2012)

A. Clinton Allen

Ronald G. Foster

John F. O Brien

32

### **EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION COMPENSATION TABLES**

## **Summary Compensation Table**

The following table includes information concerning compensation for the three year period ended December 31, 2011 paid to our Co-Chief Executive Officers, our Chief Financial Officer and our three other highest compensated executive officers ( NEOs ).

Name and Principal Position Joseph M. Holsten Co-Chief Executive Officer	Year 2011 2010 2009	Salary (3) \$ 725,000 \$ 650,000 \$ 675,000		Sonus (4) 1,160,000 975,000 975,000		Stock Awards (5) 1,490,542	Option Awards (5) \$ 764,000 \$ 440,000	]	on-Equity (ncentive Plan mpensation (6) 630,149 645,093 639,412		All Other mpensation (7) 23,454 46,954 44,910	<b>Total</b> \$4,029,145 \$3,081,047 \$2,774,322
Robert L. Wagman President and Co-Chief Executive Officer	2011 2010 2009	\$ 475,000 \$ 350,000 \$ 321,346	\$ \$ \$	570,000 350,000 255,219	\$ 2	2,235,825	\$ 382,000 \$ 132,000	\$ \$ \$	327,268 434,755 225,367	\$ \$ \$	15,954 12,204 11,193	\$ 3,624,047 \$ 1,528,959 \$ 945,125
John S. Quinn Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (1)	2011 2010 2009	\$ 425,000 \$ 366,575 \$ 87,500	\$ \$ \$	467,500 366,575 91,096	\$	980,633 929,750	\$ 382,000 \$ 353,200	\$ \$ \$	250,128 259,376 59,693	\$ \$ \$	25,451 159,780 2,514	\$ 2,148,712 \$ 1,534,306 \$ 1,523,753
Victor M. Casini Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary (2)	2011 2010 2009	\$ 400,000 \$ 341,667 \$ 350,481	\$ \$ \$	440,000 341,667 168,784	\$	980,633	\$ 191,000 \$ 110,000	\$ \$ \$	299,738 367,160 241,458	\$ \$ \$	23,953 17,012 9,253	\$ 2,144,324 \$ 1,258,506 \$ 879,976
Walter P. Hanley Senior Vice President Development and Associate General Counsel	2011 2010 2009	\$ 400,000 \$ 350,000 \$ 337,500	\$ \$ \$	440,000 350,000 162,533	\$	980,633	\$ 382,000 \$ 137,500	\$ \$ \$	297,896 311,768 292,827	\$ \$ \$	24,204 17,080 61,678	\$ 2,142,733 \$ 1,410,848 \$ 992,038
Michael S. Clark Vice President Finance and Controller	2011	\$ 192,504	\$	106,382	\$	178,158				\$	8,187	\$ 485,231

- (1) Mr. Quinn joined the Company in September 2009. His bonus was prorated in 2009 based on the percentage of the year that he was employed by us.
- (2) Mr. Casini divided his time between his position with us and with Flynn Enterprises, Inc. as follows: 75% for us and 25% for Flynn Enterprises in 2009. In 2010, he began to devote more of his time to our matters. As of the end of 2010, Mr. Casini s position with us was full time.
- (3) The base compensation of our executive officers is discussed beginning on page 25.
- (4) Our bonus awards are discussed beginning on page 26.

(5) The amounts represent the grant date fair value calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. See Note 4 of the consolidated financial statements in our 2011 Annual Report regarding assumptions underlying the valuation of equity awards. Our Equity Incentive Plan is discussed beginning on page 27.

33

- (6) The amounts equal the amount recorded by us to the income statement for accounting purposes in the years presented. Our LTIP is discussed beginning on page 26.
- (7) The amounts include Company matching contributions under our retirement plans, the amount of life insurance premiums paid by us for the benefit of the NEOs, and the amount we pay to the NEOs as reimbursement for their payment of the premiums for disability insurance. The amounts for each NEO for each such category of compensation are set forth in the table below. In addition, Mr. Holsten s amount under Other below includes the \$25,000 he received each year for serving on the Executive Committee of our Board of Directors. As of January 1, 2011, Mr. Holsten no longer received any compensation for his service on the Executive Committee. Mr. Quinn s amount under Other includes a \$147,149 reimbursement for moving expenses. Mr. Hanley s amount under Other includes a \$50,000 cash bonus authorized by our Compensation Committee on October 6, 2009, in consideration of his role in the successful completion of our transactions with Schnitzer Steel Industries, Inc. that closed on October 1, 2009.

			Life		
Name	Year	Retirement Plans	Insurance Premiums	Disability Insurance Premiums	Other
Joseph M. Holsten	2011	\$ 21,763	\$ 1,260	\$ 431	\$
	2010	\$ 20,263	\$ 1,260	\$ 431	\$ 25,000
	2009	\$ 18,371	\$ 1,092	\$ 447	\$ 25,000
Robert L. Wagman	2011	\$ 14,263	\$ 1,260	\$ 431	\$
	2010	\$ 10,513	\$ 1,260	\$ 431	\$
	2009	\$ 9,654	\$ 1,092	\$ 447	\$
John S. Quinn	2011	\$ 23,760	\$ 1,260	\$ 431	\$
	2010	\$ 10,990	\$ 1,260	\$ 381	\$ 147,149
	2009	\$ 2,423	\$ 91	\$	\$
Victor M. Casini	2011	\$ 22,262	\$ 1,260	\$ 431	\$
	2010	\$ 15,321	\$ 1,260	\$ 431	\$
	2009	\$ 7,714	\$ 1,092	\$ 447	\$
Walter P. Hanley	2011	\$ 22,513	\$ 1,260	\$ 431	\$
	2010	\$ 15,389	\$ 1,260	\$ 431	\$
	2009	\$ 10,139	\$ 1,092	\$ 447	\$ 50,000
Michael S. Clark	2011	\$ 6,780	\$ 1,080	\$ 327	\$

Grants of Plan-Based Awards for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011

The following table sets forth information regarding plan-based awards granted by us to the NEOs during the last fiscal year.

	Grant	Estimated Future Payouts Under Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards			All Other Stock Awards: Number of Shares of Stock	All Other Option Awards: Number of Securities Underlying	Exercise or Base Price of Option Awards	F of	rant Date air Value Stock and Option Awards
Name	Date	Threshold	Target	Maximum	or Units	Options	(\$/Sh)		(1)
Joseph M. Holsten	01/14/11		_		63,333	_	\$ 23.535	\$	1,490,542
Robert L. Wagman	01/14/11				95,000		\$ 23.535	\$	2,235,825
John S. Quinn	01/14/11				41,667		\$ 23.535	\$	980,633
Victor M. Casini	01/14/11				41,667		\$ 23.535	\$	980,633
Walter P. Hanley	01/14/11				41,667		\$ 23.535	\$	980,633
Michael S. Clark	01/14/11				4,000		\$ 23.535	\$	94,140
	02/28/11				3,500		\$ 24.005	\$	84,018

(1) The amounts disclosed under the Grant Date Fair Value of Stock and Option Awards column represent the grant date fair value calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.

34

## Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011

The following table sets forth information regarding the status of existing equity awards held by the NEOs.

	Option Aw	vards (1)		Stock A Number of Shares	Awards (2)
Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Exercisable	Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Unexercisable	Option Exercise Price	Option Expiration Date	or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested	Market Value of Shares or Units of Stock That Have Not Vested
56,000 24,000	10,000 24,000 40,000 56,000	\$ 10.058 \$ 19.135 \$ 11.955 \$ 19.965	1/12/17 1/11/18 1/9/19 1/8/20	88,999	\$ 2,677,090
4,000 16,000 40,000 20,000 18,000 48,000 14,000 12,000	2,000 12,000 6,000 12,000 28,000	\$ 2.188 \$ 4.490 \$ 4.420 \$ 9.755 \$ 10.058 \$ 18.870 \$ 19.135 \$ 11.955 \$ 19.965	1/14/13 1/9/14 1/14/15 1/13/16 1/12/17 11/1/17 1/11/18 1/9/19 1/8/20		\$ 2,812,480
16,000 12,000	24,000 28,000	\$ 18.595 \$ 19.965	10/1/19 1/8/20		\$ 2,030,400
50,000 100,000 60,000 60,000 84,000 27,000 14,000 6,000	3,000 6,000 10,000 14,000	\$ 2.188 \$ 3.250 \$ 4.490 \$ 4.420 \$ 4.165 \$ 10.058 \$ 19.135 \$ 11.955 \$ 19.965	1/14/13 10/2/13 1/9/14 1/14/15 1/28/15 1/12/17 1/11/18 1/9/19 1/8/20		
40,000 45,000 17,500 12,500 12,000	5,000 7,500 12,500 28,000	\$ 9.755 \$ 10.058 \$ 19.135 \$ 11.955 \$ 19.965	1/13/16 1/12/17 1/11/18 1/9/19 1/8/20	45,500	\$ 1,368,640
3,500 2,500 1,500	1,500 2,500 3,500	\$ 21.460 \$ 11.955 \$ 19.965	6/2/18 1/9/19 1/8/20		\$ 1,428,800 \$ 203,040
	of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Exercisable  56,000  24,000  4,000 40,000 20,000 18,000 12,000  12,000  12,000  50,000 100,000 60,000 60,000 84,000 27,000 14,000 10,000 6,000 40,000 45,000 17,500 12,500 12,500 12,000	Number of Securities   Underlying Unexercised Options   Exercisable	of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Exercisable         Number of Securities Underlying Unexercised Options Unexercisable         Option Exercise Price           10,000         \$ 10.058           56,000         24,000         \$ 19.135           40,000         \$ 11.955           24,000         \$ 6,000         \$ 19.965           4,000         \$ 2.188           16,000         \$ 4.490           40,000         \$ 4.420           20,000         \$ 9.755           18,000         2,000         \$ 10.058           48,000         12,000         \$ 18.870           14,000         6,000         \$ 19.135           12,000         12,000         \$ 11.955           12,000         28,000         \$ 19.965           50,000         \$ 24,000         \$ 18.595           12,000         28,000         \$ 19.965           50,000         \$ 24,000         \$ 18.595           12,000         28,000         \$ 19.965           50,000         \$ 3,250           60,000         \$ 4.420           84,000         \$ 4.420           84,000         \$ 4.490           60,000         \$ 19.135           10,000         \$ 10.058	Number of Securities         Number of Securities         Underlying Unexercised Options         Unexercised Coptions         Option Exercise Exercises Date         Option Exercise Date         Option Expiration Expiration Expiration Date           56,000         24,000         \$ 10.058         1/12/17           56,000         24,000         \$ 19.135         1/11/18           40,000         \$ 11.955         1/9/19           24,000         \$ 6,000         \$ 19.965         1/8/20           4,000         \$ 2.188         1/14/13           16,000         \$ 4.490         1/9/14           40,000         \$ 9,755         1/13/16           20,000         \$ 9,755         1/13/16           18,000         2,000         \$ 18.870         11/1/17           14,000         6,000         \$ 19.135         1/11/18           12,000         12,000         \$ 18.870         11/1/17           14,000         6,000         \$ 19.135         1/9/19           12,000         28,000         \$ 19.965         1/8/20           50,000         \$ 21.88         1/14/13           100,000         \$ 3.250         10/2/13           60,000         \$ 4.420         1/14/15           84,000	Number of Securities   Underlying   Unexercised Options   Exercised Options   Exercised Options   10,000   \$10,058   1/12/17   14,000   12,000   \$19,965   1/8/20   1/14/15   1/2,000   28,000   \$19,965   1/8/20   1/14/15   1/2,000   28,000   \$19,965   1/8/20   1/14/15   1/2,000   1/2,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/2,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/2,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/2,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/2,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/2,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,100   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,100   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,100   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/4,000   1/4,000   \$11,955   1/9/19   1/4,000   1/

<sup>(1)</sup> The grant date of each of the options was ten years prior to the expiration date. Each of the options becomes exercisable with respect to 10% of the number of shares of common stock subject to the option on each six month anniversary of the grant date over a total of

five years, except (a) with respect to the options with an expiration date of January 14, 2015, in which case the vesting schedule is June 14, 2005 with respect to 50%

35

of the number of shares of common stock subject to such option and, with respect to an additional 5.555% of the number of shares of common stock subject to such option, January 14, 2006 and each six month anniversary thereafter until January 14, 2010; (b) with respect to the options with an expiration date of January 9, 2014, in which case the vesting schedule was amended in January 2005 to make all unvested shares of common stock subject to the options exercisable on January 10, 2005; and (c) with respect to the options with an expiration date of January 28, 2015, in which case all of such options were immediately exercisable.

(2) Outstanding stock awards include unvested restricted stock and RSUs. The restricted stock and RSUs vest over a five year period. The following table sets forth the number of units that will vest in each of the following five years for each NEO:

	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	Total
Joseph M. Holsten	28,668	28,668	12,668	12,668	6,327	88,999
Robert L. Wagman	23,000	23,000	19,000	19,000	9,500	93,500
John S. Quinn	18,334	18,334	18,334	8,334	4,164	67,500
Victor M. Casini	12,334	12,334	8,334	8,334	4,164	45,500
Walter P. Hanley	13,334	13,334	8,334	8,334	4,164	47,500
Michael S. Clark	1,500	1,500	1,500	1,500	750	6,750

Option Exercises and Stock Vested for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011

The following table sets forth information regarding the exercise of stock options by the NEOs and the vesting of restricted stock awards and RSUs during the last fiscal year.

	Optio	Option Awards			rds
	Number of Shares		Number of Shares Acquired		
Nome	Acquired	Value Realized	on Vesting		ue Realized
Name	on Exercise	on Exercise	Vesting		1 Vesting
Joseph M. Holsten	36,000	\$ 687,605	22,334	\$	538,918
Robert L. Wagman			13,500	\$	342,351
John S. Quinn			14,167	\$	347,710
Victor M. Casini	85,000	\$ 2,127,552	8,167	\$	202,485
Walter P. Hanley			9,167	\$	225,800
Michael S. Clark			750	\$	19,672

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2011

The following table sets forth information regarding the accounts of the NEOs in the retirement plans that supplement our 401(k) plan. These supplemental plans are discussed beginning on page 29.

Name	Cor	Executive Contributions in Last FY (1)		Registrant Contributions in Last FY (2)		Aggregate Earnings in Last FY		ggregate thdrawals/ tibutions (3)	Aggregate Balance at Last FYE (4)	
Joseph M. Holsten	\$	50,780	\$	21,763	\$	(2,407)	\$	(58,629)	\$	794,157
Robert L. Wagman	\$	42,789	\$	14,263	\$	234	\$	(27,014)	\$	145,865
John S. Quinn	\$	47,520	\$	23,760	\$	3,746	\$	(37,664)	\$	73,272
Victor M. Casini	\$	166,055	\$	22,262	\$	15,918	\$	(25,779)	\$	540,017
Walter P. Hanley	\$	282,912	\$	22,513	\$	(25,966)	\$	(25,812)	\$	637,145
Michael S. Clark	\$	36,206	\$	6,780	\$	(791)	\$	(13,511)	\$	96,093

(1) These amounts represent contributions to the supplemental plan by the NEOs from their respective 2011 salaries and 2010 bonuses (paid in 2011) reported in the Summary Compensation Table under the columns entitled Salary and Bonus.

36

## **Table of Contents**

- (2) These amounts were also reported in the Summary Compensation Table under the column entitled All Other Compensation.
- (3) These amounts represent distributions, and the transfers on behalf of the NEOs from the supplemental plans to our 401(k) plan that are permitted by the tax laws.
- (4) The Aggregate Balance at Last Fiscal Year End column includes money we owe these individuals for salaries and incentive compensation they earned in prior years but did not receive because they elected to defer receipt of it. The following amounts of executive and Company contributions were included in the Summary Compensation Table in prior years: Mr. Holsten \$406,391; Mr. Wagman \$161,327; Mr. Quinn \$40,240; Mr. Casini \$440,935; Mr. Hanley \$337,656; and Mr. Clark \$0.

37

#### OTHER INFORMATION

## **Principal Stockholders**

The following table sets forth, as of March 8, 2012, certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock by:

each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of 5% or more of the outstanding common stock (based solely on a review of filings on Schedule 13G or 13D with the SEC);

each of our directors and named executive officers; and

all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

	Shares Bene	•
	owned	(2)
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner (1)	Number	Percent
BlackRock, Inc., 40 East 52nd Street, New York, New York 10022 (3)	7,761,847	5.3
Eaton Vance Management, 2 International Place, Boston, Massachusetts 02110 (4)	7,652,744	5.2
A. Clinton Allen (5)	321,200	*
Kevin F. Flynn (6)	819,260	*
Ronald G. Foster	38,826	*
Blythe J. McGarvie	0	
Paul M. Meister (7)	347,203	*
John F. O Brien	70,000	*
William M. Webster, IV (8)	496,800	*
Joseph M. Holsten	220,435	*
Robert L. Wagman	125,714	*
John S. Quinn	90,755	*
Victor M. Casini (9)	461,739	*
Walter P. Hanley	172,409	*
Michael S. Clark	9,495	*
All directors and executive officers as a group (14 persons)	3,248,421	2.2

- \* Represents less than 1% of our outstanding common stock.
- (1) Unless otherwise specified, the address of each such person is c/o LKQ Corporation, 500 West Madison Street, Suite 2800, Chicago, Illinois 60661.
- (2) Shares are considered beneficially owned, for the purpose of this table only, if held by the person indicated as beneficial owner, or if such person, directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship or otherwise has or shares the power to vote, to direct the voting of and/or to dispose of or to direct the disposition of such security, or if the person has the right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days, unless otherwise indicated in these footnotes. The numbers and percentages of shares owned by our directors and named executive officers include in each case shares subject to currently outstanding equity awards that were exercisable or scheduled to vest within 60 days of March 8, 2012 as follows: A. Clinton Allen 170,000; Kevin F. Flynn 30,000; Ronald G. Foster 30,000; Paul M. Meister 270,000; John F. O Brien 20,000; William M. Webster, IV 270,000; Joseph M. Holsten 96,000; Robert L. Wagman 108,400; John S. Quinn 36,000; Victor M. Casini 420,000; Walter P. Hanley 141,000; Michael S. Clark 8,500; and all directors and executive officers as a group 1,673,012.

(3) Based solely on a Schedule 13G/A filed by BlackRock, Inc. on February 13, 2012.

(4) Based solely on a Schedule 13G filed by Eaton Vance Management on January 10, 2012.

38

### **Table of Contents**

- (5) Includes 4,000 shares held by an IRA, of which Mr. Allen is the beneficiary, and 28,000 shares owned by Mr. Allen s wife. Includes 86,361 shares owned by Mr. Allen that are pledged as security to financial institutions.
- (6) Includes 789,260 shares owned by the Kevin F. Flynn June, 1992 Non-Exempt Trust, of which Mr. Flynn is a beneficiary and as to which he disclaims beneficial ownership. All of such shares are pledged as security to financial institutions.
- (7) Includes 77,503 shares owned by Mr. Meister that are pledged as security to financial institutions.
- (8) Includes 225,000 shares owned by a trust of which Mr. Webster s spouse is the trustee and beneficiary, and 1,800 shares owned by a limited partnership of which Mr. Webster is the sole limited partner. Does not include shares owned by a trust of which Mr. Webster s children are beneficiaries of which Mr. Webster is not a trustee and as to which none of Mr. Webster or any of his children have voting or investing power.
- (9) Includes 45,739 shares owned by a trust of which Mr. Casini and his wife are co-trustees and Mr. Casini is a beneficiary. **Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance**

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires our executive officers and directors, and any other person who owns more than 10% of our common stock, to file reports with the SEC regarding their ownership of our common stock and changes in such ownership. Based on our review of copies of these reports, we believe that during 2011 such persons have complied with their filing requirements, except for a (i) an award to Mr. Clark on February 28, 2011 of 3,500 RSUs, which was reported on a Form 4 filed on March 4, 2011, (ii) a sale by Mr. Clark pursuant to a 10b5-1 plan of 237 shares on July 14, 2011 for the purpose of satisfying the tax withholding obligation upon the vesting of RSUs, which was reported on a Form 5 filed on February 13, 2012, and (iii) a purchase by a limited partnership of which Mr. Webster is the sole limited partner of 1,800 shares on June 7, 2010, which was reported on a Form 4 filed on March 15, 2012.

### **Certain Transactions**

The Audit Committee charter specifies that the Audit Committee s responsibilities include the review and approval of all transactions between us and any persons affiliated with us that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC. We have had no such related party transactions since the beginning of fiscal year 2011, and no such related party transactions are currently proposed.

#### **Solicitation of Proxies**

Our Board of Directors is soliciting your proxy by mail. Your proxy may also be solicited by our directors, officers or other employees personally or by mail, telephone, facsimile or otherwise. These persons will not be compensated for their services. Brokerage firms, banks, fiduciaries, voting trustees or other nominees will be requested to forward the proxy soliciting material to the beneficial owners of stock held of record by them. The entire cost of the solicitation by our Board of Directors will be borne by us.

## **Delivery of Proxy Materials to Households**

Rules of the SEC permit us to use a method of delivery that people often refer to as householding. For stockholders who request to receive our proxy materials by mail, householding permits us to mail a single set of proxy materials to any household where two or more different stockholders reside and are members of the same household or in which one stockholder has multiple accounts, unless we receive contrary instructions from any such stockholder. In addition, certain intermediaries (i.e., brokers, banks or other nominees) have notified us that they will household proxy materials for our 2012 Annual Meeting. For voting purposes, these materials will include a separate proxy card for each account at the shared address. We will deliver promptly, if you request

Table of Contents 57

39

orally or in writing, a separate copy of our 2012 Proxy Statement and our 2011Annual Report to any stockholder at the same address. If you wish to receive a separate copy of our 2012 Proxy Statement and our 2011 Annual Report, then you may contact our Investor Relations Department (a) by mail at LKQ Corporation, 500 West Madison Street, Suite 2800, Chicago, Illinois 60661, (b) by telephone at 877-LKQ-CORP (toll free), or (c) by e-mail at *irinfo@lkqcorp.com*. You can also contact your broker, bank or other nominee to make a similar request. Stockholders sharing an address who now receive multiple copies of our proxy statement and annual report may request delivery of a single copy by contacting us as indicated above, or by contacting their broker, bank or other nominee, so long as the broker, bank or other nominee has elected to household proxy materials.

### **Submitting Your Proposals for the 2013 Annual Meeting**

According to the rules of the SEC, if you want to submit a proposal for inclusion in the proxy material to be distributed by us in connection with our 2013 annual meeting of stockholders, you must do so no later than November 23, 2012. Your proposal should be submitted in writing to the Corporate Secretary of the Company at our principal executive offices. In addition, our bylaws require that in order for you to properly bring any business before any meeting of stockholders, including nominations for the election of directors, you must provide written notice, delivered to the Corporate Secretary of the Company at our principal executive offices, not less than 60 nor more than 90 days prior to the meeting date. In the event that we provide less than 70 days notice or prior public disclosure of the date of the meeting, your notice, in order to be timely, must be received by us not later than the close of business on the tenth day following the day on which we mailed our notice or gave other disclosure of the meeting date. Your notice must include your name and address as it appears on our records and the number of shares of our capital stock you beneficially own. In addition, (1) for proposals other than nominations for the election of directors, your notice must include a description of the business you want brought before the meeting, your reasons for conducting that business at the meeting, and any material interest you have in that business, and (2) for proposals relating to nominations of directors, your notice must also include, with respect to each person nominated, the information required by Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.

#### General

It is important that your proxy be returned promptly. Whether or not you are able to attend the meeting, you are urged, regardless of the number of shares owned, to submit your vote.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Victor M. Casini

Senior Vice President,

General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

40

Appendix A

## LKQ CORPORATION

### 1998 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

### ARTICLE 1

## ESTABLISHMENT, OBJECTIVES, AND DURATION

- 1.1 ESTABLISHMENT OF THE PLAN. LKQ CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (hereinafter referred to as the Company ), hereby establishes an incentive compensation plan to be known as the LKQ 1998 Equity Incentive Plan (hereinafter referred to as the Plan ) as set forth in this document. The Plan became effective as of February 13, 1998 (the Effective Date ) and shall remain in effect as provided in Section 1.3 hereof.
- 1.2 PURPOSE OF THE PLAN. The purpose of this Plan is to benefit the Company and its Subsidiaries by enabling the Company to offer to certain present and future executives, key personnel, Non-employee Directors, consultants and other persons providing services to the Company and its Subsidiaries stock based incentives and other equity interests in the Company, thereby giving them a stake in the growth and prosperity of the Company and encouraging the continuance of their relationship with the Company or its Subsidiaries.
- 1.3 DURATION OF THE PLAN. The Plan shall commence on the Effective Date and shall remain in effect, subject to the right of the Board of Directors to amend or terminate the Plan at any time pursuant to Article 15 hereof, until all Shares subject to it shall have been purchased or acquired according to the Plan provisions.

#### ARTICLE 2

### **DEFINITIONS**

Whenever used in the Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below, and when the meaning is intended, the initial letter of the word shall be capitalized:

AWARD means, individually or collectively, a grant under this Plan of Nonqualified Stock Options, Incentive Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, RSUs, Performance Shares or Performance Units.

AWARD AGREEMENT means a writing provided by the Company to each Participant setting forth the terms and provisions applicable to Awards granted under this Plan. The Participant s acceptance of the terms of the Award Agreement shall be evidenced by his or her continued Service without written objection before any exercise or payment of the Award. If the Participant objects in writing, the grant of the Award shall be revoked.

BENEFICIAL OWNER or BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Rule 13d-3 of the General Rules and Regulations under the Exchange Act.

BOARD or BOARD OF DIRECTORS means the Board of Directors of the Company.

CAUSE shall mean, with respect to a Participant s Separation from Service, the occurrence of any one or more of the following, as determined by the Committee, in the exercise of good faith and reasonable judgment:

(i) In the case where there is no employment, change in control or similar agreement in effect between the Participant and the Company or a Subsidiary at the time of the grant of the Award, or where there is such an agreement but the agreement does not define cause (or similar words) or a cause termination would not be permitted under such agreement at that time because other conditions were not satisfied, the Separation from Service is due to the willful and continued failure or refusal by the Participant to substantially perform assigned duties (other than any such failure resulting from the Participant s Disability), the Participant s dishonesty or theft, the Participant s violation of any obligations or duties under any employee agreement, or the Participant s gross negligence or willful misconduct; or

A-1

### **Table of Contents**

(ii) In the case where there is an employment, change in control or similar agreement in effect between the Participant and the Company or a Subsidiary at the time of the grant of the Award that defines cause (or similar words) and a cause termination would be permitted under such agreement at that time, the Separation from Service is or would be deemed to be for cause (or similar words) as defined in such agreement.

No act or failure to act on a Participant s part shall be considered willful unless done, or omitted to be done, by the Participant not in good faith and without reasonable belief that his action or omission was in the best interest of the Company.

CHANGE OF CONTROL of the Company shall mean:

- (a) the Company is merged or consolidated or reorganized into or with another corporation or other legal person (an Acquiror) and as a result of such merger, consolidation or reorganization less than 50% of the outstanding voting securities or other capital interests of the surviving, resulting or acquiring corporation or other legal person are owned in the aggregate by the stockholders of the Company, directly or indirectly, immediately prior to such merger, consolidation or reorganization, other than by the Acquiror or any corporation or other legal person controlling, controlled by or under common control with the Acquiror;
- (b) The Company sells all or substantially all of its business and/or assets to an Acquiror, of which less than 50% of the outstanding voting securities or other capital interests are owned in the aggregate by the stockholders of the Company, directly or indirectly, immediately prior to such sale, other than by any corporation or other legal person controlling, controlled by or under common control with the Acquiror;
- (c) There is a report filed on Schedule 13D or Schedule 14D-1 (or any successor schedule, form or report), each as promulgated pursuant to the Exchange Act, disclosing that any person or group (as the terms person and group are used in Section 13(d)(3) or Section 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder) has become the beneficial owner (as the term beneficial owner is defined under Rule 13d-3 or any successor rule or regulation promulgated under the Exchange Act) of 50% or more of the issued and outstanding shares of voting securities of the Company; or
- (d) During any period of two consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning of any such period constitute the directors of the Company cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority thereof unless the election, or the nomination for election by the Company s stockholders, of each new director of the Company was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of such directors of the Company then still in office who were directors of the Company at the beginning of any such period.

CODE means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, or any successor legislation thereto.

COMMITTEE means the Committee as specified in Article 3 herein appointed by the Board to administer the Plan with respect to grants of Awards.

COMMON STOCK means the common stock of the Company.

COMPANY means LKQ Corporation, a Delaware corporation, as well as any successor to such entity as provided in Article 17 herein.

DIRECTOR means any individual who is a member of the Board of Directors of the Company.

DISABILITY shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in the Participant s governing long-term disability plan. If no long term disability plan is in place with respect to a Participant, then with respect to that Participant, Disability shall mean: for the first 24 months of disability, that the Participant is unable to perform his or her job;

A-2

thereafter, that the Participant is unable to perform any and every duty of any gainful occupation for which the Participant is reasonably suited by training, education or experience. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for any Awards that constitute a nonqualified deferred compensation plan within the meaning of Section 409A(d) of the Code and provide for an accelerated payment in connection with any Disability, Disability shall have the same meaning as set forth in any regulations, revenue procedure, revenue rulings or other pronouncements issued by the Secretary of the United States Treasury pursuant to Section 409A of the Code, applicable to such plans.

EFFECTIVE DATE shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 1.1 hereof.

EMPLOYEE means any employee of the Company or any Subsidiary.

EXCHANGE ACT means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time, or any successor act thereto.

FAIR MARKET VALUE means (a) if the Common Stock is not listed or traded on a stock exchange or market, the value of the Common Stock determined in good faith by the Committee; or (b) if the Common Stock is listed or traded on a stock exchange or market, (i) for purposes of setting any Option Price, unless otherwise required by any applicable provision of the Code or any regulations issued thereunder, or unless the Committee otherwise determines, means as of the date of the Award, the average of the closing sales prices of the Common Stock on the applicable stock exchange or market (as reported in THE WALL STREET JOURNAL, Midwest Edition) on each of the five trading dates immediately preceding such date; and (ii) for purposes of the valuation of any Shares delivered in payment of the Option Price upon the exercise of an Option, for purposes of the valuation of any Shares withheld in payment of the Option Price or to pay taxes due on an Award, for purposes of the provisions of Section 5.3 (regarding elections by Non-employee Directors to receive compensation in the form of Shares) or for purposes of the exercise of any SAR or conversion of a Performance Unit, means the average of the high and low sales prices of the Common Stock on the applicable stock exchange or market (as reported in THE WALL STREET JOURNAL, Midwest Edition) on the applicable day (or if the applicable day is not a trading day, on the trading day next preceding the applicable day).

FREESTANDING SAR means a stock appreciation right that is granted independently of any Options, as described in Article 7 herein.

GOOD REASON shall mean, with respect to a Participant s Separation from Service,

- (i) in the case where there is no employment, change in control or similar agreement in effect between the Participant and the Company or a Subsidiary at the time of the grant of the Award, or where there is such an agreement but the agreement does not define good reason (or similar words) or a good reason termination would not be permitted under such agreement at that time because other conditions were not satisfied, a voluntary Separation from Service due to good reason as the Committee, in its sole discretion, decides to treat as a Good Reason termination; or
- (ii) in the case where there is an employment, change in control or similar agreement in effect between the Participant and the Company or a Subsidiary at the time of the grant of the Award that defines good reason (or similar words) and a good reason termination would be permitted under such agreement at that time, the Separation from Service is or would be deemed to be for good reason (or similar words) as defined in such agreement.

INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION or ISO means an option to purchase Shares granted under Article 6 herein and which is designated as an Incentive Stock Option and which is intended to meet the requirements of Section 422 of the Code.

INSIDER shall mean an individual who is, on the relevant date, an officer, director or more than ten percent (10%) beneficial owner of any class of the Company s equity securities that is registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, all as defined under Section 16 of the Exchange Act.

A-3

### **Table of Contents**

NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICER means a Participant who is one of the group of covered employees as defined in the regulations promulgated under Section 162(m) of the Code, or any successor statute.

NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR means a Director who is not an Employee.

NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION or NQSO means an option to purchase Shares granted under Article 6 herein and which is not intended to meet the requirements of Section 422 of the Code.

OPTION means an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonqualified Stock Option, as described in Article 6 herein.

OPTION PRICE means the price at which a Share may be purchased by a Participant pursuant to an Option.

PARTICIPANT means a Person who or which has outstanding an Award granted under the Plan.

PERFORMANCE-BASED EXCEPTION means the exception for performance-based compensation from the tax deductibility limitations of Section 162(m) of the Code.

PERFORMANCE PERIOD means the time period during which performance goals must be achieved with respect to an Award, as determined by the Committee.

PERFORMANCE SHARE means an Award granted to a Participant, as described in Article 9 herein.

PERFORMANCE UNIT means an Award granted to a Participant, as described in Article 9 herein.

PERIOD OF RESTRICTION means the period during which the transfer of Shares of Restricted Stock or an Award of RSUs is limited in some way (based on the passage of time, the achievement of performance goals, or upon the occurrence of other events as determined by the Committee, at its discretion), and the Shares of Restricted Stock or the RSUs are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, as provided in Articles 8 and 8A.

PERSON shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 3(a)(9) of the Exchange Act and used in Section 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, including a group as defined in Section 13(d) thereof.

RESTRICTED STOCK means an Award granted to a Participant pursuant to Article 8 herein.

RETIREMENT means the Participant s termination of employment with the Company or its Subsidiaries under circumstances which the Committee determines, in its sole discretion, that qualify as a Retirement termination from the Company.

RSU means an Award of restricted stock units granted to a Participant pursuant to Article 8A hereof.

SEPARATION FROM SERVICE means a termination of Service by a Service Provider, as determined by the Committee, which determination shall be final, binding and conclusive; provided if any Award governed by Section 409A of the Code is to be distributed on a Separation from Service, then the definition of Separation from Service for such purposes shall comply with the definition provided in Section 409A of the Code.

SERVICE means service as a Service Provider to the Company or a Subsidiary. Unless otherwise stated in the applicable Award Agreement, a Participant s change in position or duties shall not result in interrupted or terminated Service, so long as such Participant continues to be a Service Provider to the Company or a Subsidiary.

SERVICE PROVIDER means an employee, officer, Non-employee Director, consultant or other advisor of the Company or a Subsidiary.

A-4

### **Table of Contents**

SHARES means shares of Common Stock of the Company.

STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHT or SAR means an Award, granted alone or in connection with a related Option, designated as an SAR, pursuant to the terms of Article 7 herein.

SUBSIDIARY means any corporation, partnership, joint venture, affiliate, or other entity in which the Company is the direct or indirect beneficial owner of not less than 20% of all issued and outstanding equity interests. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of granting Options or SARs to Service Providers of a Subsidiary in which the Company is the direct or indirect beneficial owner of less than 50% of all issued and outstanding equity interests, such Service Providers shall not be eligible for an Award of Options or SARs unless the Committee first determines that such Award is based upon legitimate business criteria within the meaning of Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1(b)(5)(iii)(E).

TANDEM SAR means an SAR that is granted in connection with a related Option pursuant to Article 7 herein, the exercise of which shall require forfeiture of the right to purchase a Share under the related Option (and when a Share is purchased under the Option, the Tandem SAR shall similarly be forfeited).

#### ARTICLE 3

#### ADMINISTRATION

- 3.1 THE COMMITTEE. The Plan shall be administered by the Committee appointed by the Board. If and to the extent that no Committee exists that has the authority to administer the Plan, the functions of the Committee shall be exercised by the Board.
- 3.2 AUTHORITY OF THE COMMITTEE. Except as limited by law or by the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Company, and subject to the provisions herein, the Committee shall have full power to select Persons who shall participate in the Plan; determine the sizes and types of Awards; determine the terms and conditions of Awards in a manner consistent with the Plan; construe and interpret the Plan and any agreement or instrument entered into under the Plan, establish, amend, or waive rules and regulations for the Plan s administration; and (subject to the provisions of Article 15 herein) amend the terms and conditions of any outstanding Award to the extent such terms and conditions are within the discretion of the Committee as provided in the Plan. Further, the Committee shall make all other determinations which may be necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan. As permitted by law, the Committee may delegate the authority granted to it herein.
- 3.3 DECISIONS BINDING. All determinations and decisions made by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of the Plan and all related orders and resolutions of the Board shall be final, conclusive and binding on all Persons, including the Company, its stockholders, Employees, Participants, and their estates and beneficiaries.
- 3.4 BOOK ENTRY. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, the Company may elect to satisfy any requirement under this Plan for the delivery of stock certificates through the use of book-entry.

## ARTICLE 4

### SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN AND MAXIMUM AWARDS

4.1 SHARES AVAILABLE FOR AWARDS. The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued for or used for reference purposes under this Plan or with respect to which Awards may be granted shall not exceed 34,944,417 Shares (subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.3), which may be either authorized and unissued Shares or Shares held in or acquired for the treasury of the Company. Upon (a) a payout of a Freestanding SAR, Tandem SAR, or Restricted Stock award in the form of cash; (b) a cancellation, termination, expiration, forfeiture, or lapse for any reason (with the exception of the termination of a Tandem SAR upon exercise of the related Options, or the termination of a related Option upon exercise of the corresponding Tandem SAR) of any Award; or (c) payment of an Option Price and/or payment of any taxes arising upon exercise of an

A-5

### **Table of Contents**

Option or payout of any Award with previously acquired Shares or by withholding Shares which otherwise would be acquired on exercise or issued upon such payout, then the number of Shares underlying any such Award which were not issued as a result of any of the foregoing actions shall again be available for the purposes of Awards under the Plan.

- 4.2 INDIVIDUAL PARTICIPANT LIMITATIONS. Unless and until the Committee determines that an Award to a Named Executive Officer shall not be designed to comply with the Performance-Based Exception, the following rules shall apply to grants of such Awards under the Plan:
- (a) Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.3 herein, the maximum number of each type of Award (other than cash-denominated Performance Units) granted to any Participant in any one fiscal year shall not exceed the following: (i) Options and SARs, 300,000 Shares, and (ii) Restricted Stock, RSUs, Performance Shares or Share-denominated Performance Units, 300,000 Shares.
- (b) The maximum aggregate cash payout with respect to cash-denominated Performance Units granted in any one fiscal year which may be made to any Participant shall be \$3,000,000.
- 4.3 ADJUSTMENTS IN AUTHORIZED SHARES. In the event of any change in corporate capitalization, such as a stock split, or a corporate transaction, such as any merger, consolidation, separation, including a spin-off, or other distribution of stock or property of the Company, any reorganization (whether or not such reorganization comes within the definition of such term in Section 368 of the Code) or any partial or complete liquidation of the Company, such adjustment shall be made in the number and class of Shares available for Awards, the number and class of and/or price of Shares subject to outstanding Awards granted under the Plan and the number of Shares set forth in Sections 4.1 and 4.2, as may be determined to be appropriate and equitable by the Committee, in its sole discretion, to prevent dilution or enlargement of rights; provided, however, that the number of Shares subject to any Award shall always be a whole number.

#### ARTICLE 5

#### ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION

- 5.1 ELIGIBILITY. Persons eligible to participate in this Plan include all Service Providers, as determined by the Committee, including Service Providers who reside in countries other than the United States of America. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, in order to foster and promote achievement of the purposes of the Plan or to comply with provisions of laws in other countries in which the Company or its Subsidiaries operate or have Service Providers, the Committee, in its sole discretion, shall have the power and authority to (i) determine which Service Providers (if any) providing Services outside the United States are eligible to participate in the Plan, (ii) modify the terms and conditions of any Awards made to such Service Providers and (iii) establish subplans and modified Option exercise and other terms and procedures to the extent such actions may be necessary or advisable.
- 5.2 ACTUAL PARTICIPATION. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, the Committee may, from time to time, select from all eligible Persons, those to whom Awards shall be granted and shall determine the nature and amount of each Award.
- 5.3 NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION. Non-Employee Directors shall have the right to elect to receive the compensation otherwise payable to them in cash in connection with their duties as members of the Board (or any committee thereof) in whole or in part in Shares (rounded up to the nearest whole share) issued under the Plan. If such Director elects to receive Shares as described in this Section 5.3, the per share value of the Common Stock shall equal the Fair Market Value on the applicable payment date. Such election must be made prior to the start of the calendar year in which the compensation is to be paid and shall be irrevocable for such calendar year.

A-6

#### ARTICLE 6

#### STOCK OPTIONS

- 6.1 GRANT OF OPTIONS. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, Options may be granted to one or more Participants in such number, and upon such terms, and at any time and from time to time as shall be determined by the Committee. The Committee may grant Nonqualified Stock Options or Incentive Stock Options. The Committee shall have complete discretion in determining the number of Options granted to each Participant (subject to Article 4 herein).
- 6.2 AWARD AGREEMENT. Each Option grant shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the Option Price, the duration of the Option, the number of Shares to which the Option pertains, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine. The Award Agreement with respect to the Option also shall specify whether the Option is intended to be an ISO within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code, or an NQSO whose grant is intended not to fall under the provisions of Section 422 of the Code.
- 6.3 OPTION PRICE. The Committee shall designate the Option Price for each grant of an Option under this Plan which Option Price shall be at least equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date the Option is granted, and which Option Price may not be subsequently changed by the Committee except pursuant to Section 4.3 hereof or to the extent provided in the Award Agreement.
- 6.4 DURATION OF OPTIONS. Each Option granted to an Employee shall expire at such time as the Committee shall determine at the time of grant; provided, however, that unless otherwise designated by the Committee at the time of grant, no Option shall be exercisable later than the tenth (10th) anniversary date of its grant.
- 6.5 EXERCISE OF OPTIONS. Options granted under this Article 6 shall be exercisable at such times and be subject to such restrictions and conditions as the Committee shall in each instance approve, which need not be the same for each grant or for each Participant.
- 6.6 PAYMENT. Options granted under this Article 6 shall be exercised by the delivery of a written notice of exercise to the Company, setting forth the number of Shares with respect to which the Option is to be exercised, accompanied by full payment for the Shares. The Option Price upon exercise of any Option shall be payable to the Company in full either:
- (a) in cash or its equivalent,
- (b) by tendering previously acquired Shares having an aggregate Fair Market Value at the time of exercise equal to the total Option Price, or
- (c) by a combination of (a) and (b).

The Committee also may allow cashless exercises as permitted under Federal Reserve Board s Regulation T, subject to applicable securities law restrictions, or by any other means which the Committee determines to be consistent with the Plan s purpose and applicable law. As soon as practicable after receipt of a written notification of exercise and full payment, the Company shall deliver to the Participant, in the Participant s name, Share certificates in an appropriate amount based upon the number of Shares purchased under the Option(s).

6.7 RESTRICTIONS ON SHARE TRANSFERABILITY. The Committee may impose such restrictions on any Shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of an Option granted under this Article 6 as it may deem advisable, including, without limitation, restrictions under applicable federal securities laws, under the requirements of any stock exchange or market upon which such Shares are then listed and/or traded, and under any blue sky or state securities laws applicable to such Shares.

A-7

### **Table of Contents**

- 6.8 SEPARATION FROM SERVICE. Each Option Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which the Participant shall have the right to exercise the Option following Separation from Service. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement entered into with each Participant, need not be uniform among all Options issued pursuant to the Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for Separation from Service, including, but not limited to, Separation from Service for Cause or Good Reason, or reasons relating to the breach or threatened breach of restrictive covenants. Subject to Article 14, in the event that a Participant s Option Award Agreement does not set forth such Separation from Service provisions, the following Separation from Service provisions shall apply:
- (a) In the event of a Participant s Separation from Service for any reason other than death, Disability or Retirement, all Options held by the Participant shall expire and all rights to purchase Shares thereunder shall terminate immediately; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, all Options to which the Participant has a vested right immediately prior to such Separation from Service shall be exercisable for the lesser of (i) 30 days following the date of Separation from Service or (ii) the expiration date of the Option, unless the Separation from Service was for Cause.
- (b) In the event of a Participant s Separation from Service due to death or Disability, all Options shall immediately become fully vested on the date of the Separation from Service.
- (c) Subject to Article 14, in the event of Participant s Separation from Service due to death or Disability, all Options in which the Participant has a vested right upon termination shall be exercisable until the expiration date of the Option.
- (d) Subject to Article 14, in the event a Participant s Separation from Service due to Retirement, all Options in which the Participant has a vested right upon Separation from Service shall be exercisable for the lesser of (i) three years following the date of the Separation from Service or (ii) the expiration date of the Option.
- 6.9 NONTRANSFERABILITY OF OPTIONS.
- (a) INCENTIVE STOCK OPTIONS. No ISO granted under the Plan may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Further, all ISOs granted to a Participant under the Plan shall be exercisable during his or her lifetime only by such Participant.
- (b) NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTIONS. Except as otherwise provided in a Participant s Award Agreement, no NQSO granted under this Article 6 may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Further, except as otherwise provided in a Participant s Award Agreement, all NQSOs granted to a Participant under this Article 6 shall be exercisable during his or her lifetime only by such Participant.

# ARTICLE 7

## STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS

7.1 GRANT OF SARs. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, SARs may be granted to Participants at any time and from time to time as shall be determined by the Committee. The Committee may grant Freestanding SARs, Tandem SARs, or any combination of these forms of SARs. The Committee shall have complete discretion in determining the number of SARs granted to each Participant (subject to Article 4 herein) and, consistent with the provisions of the Plan, in determining the terms and conditions pertaining to such SARs. The Committee shall designate, at the time of grant, the grant price of Freestanding SARs which grant price shall at least equal the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant of the SAR. The grant price of Tandem SARs shall equal the Option Price of the related Option. Grant prices of SARs shall not subsequently be changed by the Committee except pursuant to Section 4.3 hereof.

A-8

- 7.2 EXERCISE OF TANDEM SARs. Tandem SARs may be exercised for all or part of the Shares subject to the related Option upon the surrender of the right to exercise the equivalent portion of the related Option. A Tandem SAR may be exercised only with respect to the Shares for which its related Option is then exercisable. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan to the contrary, with respect to a Tandem SAR granted in connection with an ISO: (i) the Tandem SAR will expire no later than the expiration of the underlying ISO; (ii) the value of the payout with respect to the Tandem SAR may be for no more than one hundred percent (100%) of the difference between the Option Price of the underlying ISO and the Fair Market Value of the Shares subject to the underlying ISO at the time the Tandem SAR is exercised; and (iii) the Tandem SAR may be exercised only when the Fair Market Value of the Shares subject to the ISO exceeds the Option Price of the ISO.
- 7.3 EXERCISE OF FREESTANDING SARs. Freestanding SARs may be exercised upon whatever terms and conditions the Committee, in its sole discretion, imposes upon them.
- 7.4 SAR AGREEMENT. Each SAR grant shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the grant price, the term of the SAR, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine.
- 7.5 TERM OF SARs. The term of an SAR granted under the plan shall be determined by the Committee, in its sole discretion; provided, however, that unless otherwise designated by the Committee, such term shall not exceed ten (10) years.
- 7.6 PAYMENT OF SAR AMOUNT. Upon exercise of an SAR, a Participant shall be entitled to receive payment from the Company in an amount determined by multiplying:
- (a) The excess of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of exercise over the grant price; by
- (b) The number of Shares with respect to which the SAR is exercised.
- At the discretion of the Committee, the payment upon SAR exercise may be in cash, in Shares of equivalent value, or in some combination thereof.
- 7.7 SEPARATION FROM SERVICE. Each SAR Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which the Participant shall have the right to exercise the SAR following the Participant s Separation from Service. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement entered into with each Participant, need not be uniform among all SARs issued pursuant to the Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for Separation from Service, including, but not limited to, Separation from Service for Cause or Good Reason, or reasons relating to the breach or threatened breach of restrictive covenants. Subject to Article 14, in the event that a Participant s SAR Award Agreement does not set forth such Separation from Service provisions, the following Separation from Service provisions shall apply:
- (a) In the event of a Participant s Separation from Service for any reason other than death, Disability or Retirement, all SARs held by the Participant shall expire and all rights thereunder shall terminate immediately; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, all SARs to which the Participant has a vested right immediately prior to such Separation from Service shall be exercisable for the lesser of (i) 30 days following the date of the Separation from Service or (ii) the expiration date of the SAR, unless the Separation from Service was for Cause.
- (b) In the event of a Participant s Separation from Service due to death or Disability, all SARs shall immediately become fully vested on the date of the Separation from Service.
- (c) Subject to Article 14, in the event of a Separation from Service due to death or Disability, all SARs in which the Participant has a vested right upon Separation from Service shall be exercisable until the expiration date of the SAR.

A-9

### **Table of Contents**

(d) Subject to Article 14, in the event of a Participant's Separation from Service due to Retirement, all SARs in which the Participant has a vested right upon Separation from Service shall be exercisable for the lesser of (i) three years following the date of the Separation from Service or (ii) the expiration date of the SAR.

7.8 NONTRANSFERABILITY OF SARs. Except as otherwise provided in a Participant s Award Agreement, no SAR granted under the Plan may be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Further, except as otherwise provided in a Participant s Award Agreement, all SARs granted to a Participant under the Plan shall be exercisable during his or her lifetime only by such Participant.

#### ARTICLE 8

#### RESTRICTED STOCK

- 8.1 GRANT OF RESTRICTED STOCK. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Committee, at any time and from time to time, may grant Shares of Restricted Stock to Participants in such amounts as the Committee shall determine.
- 8.2 RESTRICTED STOCK AGREEMENT. Each Restricted Stock grant shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify the Period(s) of Restriction, the number of Shares of Restricted Stock granted, and such other provisions as the Committee shall determine.
- 8.3 TRANSFERABILITY. Except as provided in this Article 8, the Shares of Restricted Stock granted herein may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, voluntarily or involuntarily, until the end of the applicable Period of Restriction established by the Committee and specified in the Restricted Stock Award Agreement, or upon earlier satisfaction of any other conditions, as specified by the Committee in its sole discretion and set forth in the Restricted Stock Agreement. All rights with respect to the Restricted Stock granted to a Participant under the Plan shall be available during his or her lifetime only to such Participant.
- 8.4 OTHER RESTRICTIONS. Subject to Article 10 herein, the Committee may impose such other conditions and/or restrictions on any Shares of Restricted Stock granted pursuant to the Plan as it may deem advisable including, without limitation, a requirement that Participants pay a stipulated purchase price for each Share of Restricted Stock, restrictions based upon the achievement of specific performance goals (Company-wide, Subsidiary-wide, divisional, and/or individual), time-based restrictions on vesting which may or may not be following the attainment of the performance goals, and/or restrictions under applicable federal or state securities laws. The Company shall retain the certificates representing Shares of Restricted Stock in the Company s possession until such time as all conditions and/or restrictions applicable to such Shares have been satisfied. Except as otherwise provided in this Article 8, Shares of Restricted Stock covered by each Restricted Stock grant made under the Plan shall become freely transferable by the Participant after the last day of the applicable Period of Restriction.
- 8.5 VOTING RIGHTS. Unless otherwise designated by the Committee at the time of grant, Participants to whom Shares of Restricted Stock have been granted hereunder may exercise full voting rights with respect to those Shares during the Period of Restriction.
- 8.6 DIVIDENDS AND OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS. Unless otherwise designated by the Committee at the time of grant, Participants holding Shares of Restricted Stock granted hereunder shall be credited with regular cash dividends paid with respect to the underlying Shares while they are so held during the Period of Restriction. The Committee may apply any restrictions to the dividends that the Committee deems appropriate. Without limiting the generality of the preceding sentence, if the grant or vesting of Shares of Restricted Stock granted to a Named Executive Officer is designed to comply with the requirements of the Performance-Based Exception, the Committee may apply any restrictions it deems appropriate to the payment of dividends declared with respect to

A-10

### **Table of Contents**

such Shares of Restricted Stock, such that the dividends and/or the Shares of Restricted Stock maintain eligibility for the Performance-Based Exception. In the event that any dividend constitutes a derivative security or an equity security pursuant to the rules under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, such dividend shall be subject to a vesting period equal to the remaining vesting period of the Shares of Restricted Stock with respect to which the dividend is paid.

- 8.7 SEPARATION FROM SERVICE. Each Restricted Stock Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which the Participant shall have the right to receive unvested Shares of Restricted Stock following Separation from Service. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement entered into with each Participant, need not be uniform among all Shares of Restricted Stock issued pursuant to the Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for Separation from Service, including, but not limited to, Separation from Service for Cause or Good Reason, or reasons relating to the breach or threatened breach of restrictive covenants; provided, however, that, except in the cases of Separation from Service connected with a Change of Control and Separation from Service by reason of death or Disability, the vesting of Shares of Restricted Stock which qualify for the Performance-Based Exception and which are held by Named Executive Officers shall not occur prior to the time they otherwise would have, but for the Separation from Service. Subject to Article 14, in the event that a Participant s Restricted Stock Award Agreement does not set forth such termination provisions, the following Separation from Service provisions shall apply:
- (a) In the event of a Participant s Separation from Service for any reason other than death or Disability, all Shares of Restricted Stock which are unvested at the date of termination shall be forfeited to the Company.
- (b) Unless the Award qualifies for the Performance-Based Exception, in the event of a Participant s Separation from Service due to death or Disability, all Shares of Restricted Stock of such participant shall immediately become fully vested on the date of termination and the restrictions shall lapse.

#### ARTICLE 8A

### RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

- 8A.1 GRANT OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Committee, at any time and from time to time, may grant Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) to Participants in such amounts as the Committee shall determine.
- 8A.2 RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT. Each RSU grant shall be evidenced by an Award Agreement that shall specify (i) the Participant to whom the Award shall be made, (ii) the number of RSUs that are subject to the Award, (iii) the time that the Award shall be granted, (iv) the duration and applicable conditions for any applicable Period of Restriction, and (v) such other provisions as the Committee shall determine. The number of RSUs granted to any Participant under any Award shall be credited, as of the date of such Award, to an account maintained on behalf of the Participant on the books of the Company. For all purposes of the Plan, the account maintained by the Company for each Participant shall constitute conclusive evidence of the Participant s Awards under the Plan, absent manifest error.
- 8A.3 TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF AWARD. RSUs granted to Participants under the Plan shall be subject to the following terms and conditions:
- (i) No Award and no right under any such Award may be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged or otherwise encumbered, except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, until the lapse of any applicable Period of Restriction and satisfaction of any other conditions specified by the Committee:
- (ii) Subject to the limitations of the Plan and any other terms and conditions applicable to a particular Award, at the end of any applicable Period of Restriction, each such whole unit (except for any RSU canceled to pay withholding taxes) shall automatically and without further action by the Company be converted into one share of

A-11

### **Table of Contents**

Common Stock (subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.3) and the Participant shall thereupon become a record holder of each such share for all purposes. As promptly as practicable thereafter, the Company shall issue to the Participant (or his or her legal representative, beneficiary or heir) certificates for the shares of Common Stock issued upon such conversion. No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued pursuant to this Plan or any Award and instead cash will be paid in lieu of any fractional shares on such basis as is determined by the Committee; and

(iii) At no time prior to the conversion of RSUs into shares of Common Stock shall a Participant be entitled to any rights as a stockholder of the Company in respect of such RSUs or the shares of Common Stock into which such RSUs may be converted, including the right to receive dividends in respect of, or to vote, any such shares of Common Stock. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an award of RSUs may include dividend equivalents, with such terms and conditions as may be approved by the Committee and set forth in the Award Agreement. Dividend equivalents credited to a Participant may be paid currently or may be deemed to be reinvested in additional Shares at a price per unit equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date that such dividend was paid to stockholders, as determined in the sole discretion of the Committee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event will dividend equivalents on any RSUs that vest on the basis of pre-established performance goals be payable before the RSUs have become earned and payable.

8A.4 SEPARATION FROM SERVICE. Each Award Agreement shall set forth the extent to which the Participant shall have the right to receive unvested RSUs following Separation from Service. Such provisions shall be determined in the sole discretion of the Committee, shall be included in the Award Agreement entered into with each Participant, need not be uniform among all RSUs issued pursuant to the Plan, and may reflect distinctions based on the reasons for Separation from Service, including, but not limited to, Separation from Service for Cause or Good Reason, or reasons relating to the breach or threatened breach of restrictive covenants; provided, however, that, except in the cases of Separation from Service connected with a Change of Control and Separation from Service by reason of death or Disability, the vesting of RSUs which qualify for the Performance-Based Exception and which are held by Named Executive Officers shall not occur prior to the time they otherwise would have, but for the Separation from Service. Subject to Article 14, in the event that a Participant s Award Agreement does not set forth such Separation from Service provisions, the following termination provisions shall apply:

- (a) In the of event a Participant s Separation from Service for any reason other than death or Disability, all RSUs of such Participant that are unvested at the date of Separation from Service shall be forfeited to the Company.
- (b) Unless the Award qualifies for the Performance-Based Exception, in the event of a Participant s Separation from Service due to death or Disability, all RSUs of such Participant shall immediately become fully vested on the date of Separation from Service and all restrictions shall lapse.

8A.5 DEFERRAL OF VESTING RSUs. The Committee may permit a Participant to defer the compensation that would otherwise be recognized upon vesting of RSUs by filing (or completing online if such form is electronic) an election to defer (in a form specified by the Company) with the Company that specifies the later fixed date on which the RSUs will be paid and distributed to the Participant. A Participant may make multiple subsequent deferral elections under this paragraph for any given vested RSUs but any time requirements set forth herein must be separately satisfied with respect to each subsequent deferral election. All deferral elections must comply, at all times, with Section 409A of the Code, any regulations issued with respect to Section 409A of the Code and any other guidance issued by the Internal Revenue Service and authoritative on the issue.

A-12

#### ARTICLE 9

#### PERFORMANCE UNITS AND PERFORMANCE SHARES

- 9.1 GRANT OF PERFORMANCE UNITS/SHARES. Subject to the terms of the Plan, Performance Units and/or Performance Shares may be granted to Participants in such amounts and upon such terms, and at any time and from time to time, as shall be determined by the Committee.
- 9.2 VALUE OF PERFORMANCE UNITS/SHARES. Each Performance Unit shall have an initial value that is established by the Committee at the time of grant. Each Performance Share shall have an initial value equal to the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of grant. The Committee shall set performance goals in its discretion which, depending on the extent to which they are met, will determine the number and/or value of Performance Units/Shares that will be paid out to the Participant. For purposes of this Article 9, the time period during which the performance goals must be met shall be referred to as a Performance Period and the Performance Period shall be a minimum of one year.
- 9.3 EARNING OF PERFORMANCE UNITS/SHARES. Subject to the terms of this Plan, after the applicable Performance Period has ended, the holder of Performance Units/Shares shall be entitled to receive payout on the number and value of Performance Units/Shares earned by the Participant over the Performance Period, to be determined as a function to the extent to which the corresponding performance goals have been achieved, as established by the Committee.
- 9.4 FORM AND TIMING OF PAYMENT OF PERFORMANCE UNITS/SHARES. (a) Except as provided below, payment of earned Performance Units/Shares shall be made in a single lump sum as soon as reasonably practicable following the close of the applicable Performance Period. Subject to the terms of this Plan, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may pay earned Performance Units/Shares in the form of cash or in Shares which have an aggregate Fair Market Value equal to the value of the earned Performance Units/Shares at the close of the applicable Performance Period (or in a combination thereof). Such Shares may be granted subject to any restrictions deemed appropriate by the Committee.
- (b) At the time of grant or shortly thereafter, the Committee, at its discretion and in accordance with the terms designated by the Committee, may provide for a voluntary and/or mandatory deferral of all or any part of an otherwise earned Performance Unit/Share Award. All deferrals, whether mandatory or elective, must comply, at all times, with Section 409A of the Code, any regulations issued with respect to Section 409A of the Code and any other guidance issued by the Internal Revenue Service and authoritative on the issue.
- (c) At the discretion of the Committee, Participants may be entitled to receive any dividends declared with respect to Shares which have been earned but not yet distributed to Participants in connection with grants of Performance Units and/or Performance Shares (such dividends shall be subject to the same accrual, forfeiture, and payout restrictions as apply to dividends earned with respect to Shares of Restricted Stock, as set forth in Section 8.6 herein). In addition, Participants may, at the discretion of the Committee, be entitled to exercise their voting rights with respect to such Shares.
- 9.5 SEPARATION FROM SERVICE. Subject to Article 14, in the event of a Participant s Separation from Service for any reason other than death, Disability or Retirement, all Performance Units/Shares shall be forfeited by the Participant to the Company. Subject to Article 14, in the event of a Participant s Separation from Service during a Performance Period due to death, Disability or Retirement, the Participant shall receive a prorated payout of the Performance Units/Shares, unless the Committee determines otherwise. The prorated payout shall be determined by the Committee, shall be based upon the length of time that the Participant held the Performance Units/Shares during the Performance Period, and shall further be adjusted based on the achievement of the pre-established performance goals. Subject to Article 14, unless the Committee determines otherwise in the event of a Separation from Service due to death, Disability or Retirement payment of earned Performance Units/Shares shall be made at the same time as payments are made to Participants who did not have a Separation from Service during the applicable Performance Period.

A-13

## **Table of Contents**

9.6 NONTRANSFERABILITY. Except as otherwise provided in a Participant s Award Agreement, Performance Units/Shares may not be sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated, other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Further, except as otherwise provided in a Participant s Award Agreement, a Participant s rights under the Plan shall be exercisable during the Participant s lifetime only by a Participant or the Participant s legal representative.

#### ARTICLE 10

#### PERFORMANCE MEASURES

- (a) Unless and until the Committee proposes for stockholder vote and stockholders approve a change in the general performance measures set forth in this Article 10, the attainment of which may determine the degree of payout and/or vesting with respect to Awards to Named Executive Officers which are designed to qualify for the Performance-Based Exception, the performance goals to be used for purposes of such grants shall be established by the Committee in writing and stated in terms of the attainment of specified levels of, or percentage changes in, any one or more of the following measurements: revenue, primary or fully-diluted earnings per Share, pretax income, cash flow from operations, total cash flow, return on equity, return on capital, return on assets, net operating profits after taxes, economic value added, total stockholder return or return on sales, or any individual performance objective which is measured solely in terms of quantitative targets related to the Company or the Company s business, or any combination thereof. In addition, such performance goals may be based in whole or in part upon the performance of the Company, a Subsidiary, division and/or other operational unit, under one or more of such measures.
- (b) The degree of payout and/or vesting of such Awards designed to qualify for the Performance-Based Exception shall be determined based upon the written certification of the Committee as to the extent to which the performance goals and any other material terms and conditions precedent to such payment and/or vesting have been satisfied. The Committee shall have the discretion to adjust the determinations of the degree of attainment of the pre-established performance goals; provided, however, that the performance goals applicable to Awards which are designed to qualify for the Performance-Based Exception, and which are held by Named Executive Officers, may not be adjusted so as to increase the payment under the Award (the Committee shall retain the discretion to adjust such performance goals upward, or to otherwise reduce the amount of the payment and/or vesting of the Award relative to the pre-established performance goals).
- (c) On or before the latest possible date that will not jeopardize the qualification of Awards for the Performance-Based Exception (to the extent applicable), the Committee shall have the discretion to include or exclude unusual, atypical or non-recurring items in determining the applicable performance goals for a particular performance period.
- (d) In the event that applicable tax and/or securities laws change to permit Committee discretion to alter the governing performance measures without obtaining stockholder approval of such changes, the Committee shall have sole discretion to make such changes without obtaining stockholder approval. In addition, in the event that the Committee determines that it is advisable to grant Awards which shall not qualify for the Performance-Based Exception, the Committee may make such grants without satisfying the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code and, thus, which use performance measures other than those specified above.

#### ARTICLE 11

# BENEFICIARY DESIGNATION

Each Participant under the Plan may, from time to time, name any beneficiary or beneficiaries (who may be named contingently or successively) to whom any benefit under the Plan is to be paid in case of his or her death before he or she receives any or all of such benefit. Each such designation shall revoke all prior designations by the same Participant, shall be in a form prescribed by the Company, and will be effective only when filed by the Participant in writing with the Secretary of the Company during the Participant s lifetime. In the absence of any such designation, benefits remaining unpaid at the Participant s death shall be paid to the Participant s estate.

A-14

#### ARTICLE 12

#### **DEFERRALS**

The Committee may permit a Participant to defer such Participant s receipt of the payment of cash or the delivery of Shares that would otherwise be due to such Participant upon the exercise of any Option or by virtue of the lapse or waiver of restrictions with respect to RSUs (as provided in Section 8A.5) or with respect to Restricted Stock, or the satisfaction of any requirements or goals with respect to Performance Units/Shares. If any such deferral election is required or permitted, the Committee shall, in its sole discretion, establish rules and procedures for such payment deferrals. All deferral elections must comply, at all times, with Section 409A of the Code, any regulations issued with respect to Section 409A of the Code and any other guidance issued by the Internal Revenue Service and authoritative on the issue.

#### ARTICLE 13

## RIGHTS OF SERVICE PROVIDERS

- 13.1 RIGHT TO TERMINATE SERVICES. Nothing in the Plan shall interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company to terminate any Participant s Services at any time, nor confer upon any Participant any right to continue in the Service of the Company or any Subsidiary. For purposes of this Plan, temporary absence from Service because of illness, vacation, approved leaves of absence, and transfers of employment among the Company and its Subsidiaries, shall not be considered a Separation from Service or to interrupt continuous Service. Conversion of a Participant s employment relationship to a consulting or other Service arrangement shall not result in termination of previously granted Awards.
- 13.2 PARTICIPATION. No Service Provider shall have the right to be selected to receive an Award under this Plan, or, having been so selected, to be selected to receive a future Award.

## ARTICLE 14

#### CHANGE OF CONTROL

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, unless otherwise specifically prohibited under applicable laws, or by the rules and regulations of any governing governmental agencies or national securities exchanges:

- (a) Any and all Options and SARs granted hereunder shall become immediately exercisable, and shall remain exercisable throughout their entire term:
- (b) Any Period of Restriction and other restrictions imposed on Restricted Shares and RSUs shall lapse; and
- (c) Unless otherwise specified in a Participant s Award Agreement at time of grant, the maximum payout opportunities attainable under all outstanding Awards of Performance Units and Performance Shares shall be deemed to have been fully earned for the entire Performance Period(s) as of the effective date of the Change of Control. The vesting of all such Awards shall be accelerated as of the effective date of the Change of Control, and in full settlement of such Awards, there shall be paid out in cash to Participants within thirty (30) days following the effective date of the Change of Control the maximum of payout opportunities associated with such outstanding Awards.

#### ARTICLE 15

# AMENDMENT, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION

15.1 AMENDMENT, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION. The Board may at any time and from time to time, alter, amend, suspend or terminate the Plan in whole or in part, subject to any requirement of stockholder approval imposed by applicable law, rule or regulation. The Board may not, without shareholder approval, (i) materially increase the benefits accruing to Participants, (ii) materially increase the number of securities which may be issued upon the Plan, or (iii) materially modify the requirements for participation in the Plan.

A-15

## **Table of Contents**

15.2 AWARDS PREVIOUSLY GRANTED. No termination, amendment, or modification of the Plan shall adversely affect in any material way any Award previously granted under the Plan, without the written consent of the Participant holding such Award.

15.3 NO REPRICING OF OPTIONS/SARs. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the repricing of Options or SARs is prohibited without prior approval of the Company's stockholders. For this purpose, a repricing means any of the following (or any other action that has the same effect as any of the following): (A) changing the terms of an Option or SAR to lower its Option Price or SAR grant price; (B) any other action that is treated as a repricing under generally accepted accounting principles; and (C) repurchasing for cash or canceling an Option or SAR at a time when its Option Price or SAR grant price is greater than the Fair Market Value of the underlying Shares in exchange for another Award, unless the cancellation and exchange occurs in connection with a change in capitalization or similar change under Section 4.3. A cancellation and exchange under clause (C) would be considered a repricing regardless of whether it is treated as a repricing under generally accepted accounting principles and regardless of whether it is voluntary on the part of the Participant.

## ARTICLE 16

#### WITHHOLDING

16.1 TAX WITHHOLDING. The Company shall have the power and the right to deduct or withhold, or require a Participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state, and local taxes, domestic or foreign, required by law or regulation to be withheld with respect to any taxable event arising as a result of the Plan.

16.2 SHARE WITHHOLDING. With respect to withholding required upon the exercise of Options or SARs, upon the lapse of restrictions on Restricted Stock or RSUs, or upon any other taxable event arising as a result of Awards granted hereunder, Participants may elect, subject to the approval of the Committee, or the Company may require, that such withholding requirement be satisfied, in whole or in part, by having the Company withhold Shares having a Fair Market Value on the date the tax is to be determined equal to the minimum statutory total tax which would be imposed on the transaction. All such elections shall be irrevocable, made in writing, signed by the Participant, and shall be subject to any restrictions or limitations that the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate.

#### ARTICLE 17

## **SUCCESSORS**

All obligations of the Company under the Plan with respect to Awards granted hereunder shall be binding on any successor to the Company, whether the existence of such successor is the result of a direct or indirect merger, consolidation, purchase of all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the Company or otherwise.

# ARTICLE 18

# LEGAL CONSTRUCTION

18.1 GENDER AND NUMBER. Except where otherwise indicated by the context, any masculine term used herein also shall include the feminine, the plural shall include the singular and the singular shall include the plural.

18.2 SEVERABILITY. In the event any provision of the Plan shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining parts of the Plan, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if as if the illegal or invalid provision had not been included.

18.3 REQUIREMENTS OF LAW. The granting of Awards and the issuance of Shares under the Plan shall be subject to all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and to such approvals by any governmental agencies or national securities exchanges as may be required.

A-16

## **Table of Contents**

18.4 SECURITIES LAW COMPLIANCE. With respect to Insiders, transactions under this Plan are intended to comply with all applicable conditions of Rule 16b-3 or its successors under the Exchange Act. To the extent any provision of the Plan or action by the Committee fails to so comply, it shall be deemed null and void, to the extent permitted by law and deemed advisable by the Committee.

18.5 GOVERNING LAW. To the extent not pre-empted by federal law, the Plan, and all agreements hereunder, shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Delaware.

18.6 COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 409A. The Plan is intended to comply with Section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, the Plan shall be interpreted, operated and administered consistent with this intent. In that regard, and notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, the Company reserves the right to amend the Plan or any Award granted under the Plan, by action of the Committee, without the consent of any affected Participant, to the extent deemed necessary or appropriate for purposes of maintaining compliance with Section 409A of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder. In addition, any payments under the Plan of an amount that is deferred compensation under Section 409A of the Code in connection with a Participant s termination of employment shall not be made earlier than six (6) months after the date of termination of employment to the extent required by Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code.

A-17

Appendix B

# LKQ Corporation Long Term Incentive Plan

- 1. **Purpose.** The purpose of the LKQ Corporation Long Term Incentive Plan (the Plan ) is to advance the interests of LKQ Corporation (the Company ) by providing for long-term performance awards for officers and other key persons of the Company or one or more of its subsidiaries so as to attract and retain such persons, make their compensation competitive with other opportunities, and cause them to strive to increase the Company s cumulative returns to its stockholders.
- 2. **Administration.** The Plan shall be administered (the Administrator ) by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company. The Board of Directors of the Company (the Board ) may hereafter in its discretion designate the Board or a committee thereof to administer the Plan, in which event such other administrator shall be deemed the Administrator hereunder.
- 3. Participants; Performance Periods; Portion of Awards.
- (a) Participants in the Plan shall be selected by the Administrator.
- (b) For purposes hereof, each Performance Period during the term of the Plan shall begin on January 1 and shall terminate on December 31 of the third calendar year ending thereafter. The first Performance Period pursuant to the Plan shall begin on January 1, 2006 and end on December 31, 2008.
- (c) If a person becomes a participant in the Plan during any Performance Period, the participant s award for such Performance Period shall be prorated to reflect such participant s actual number of full months of participation; provided, however, such proration shall not be applicable to participants designated by the Administrator on the date of adoption of the Plan by the Compensation Committee of the Board with respect to the first Performance Period.

#### 4. Performance Awards.

- (a) Subject to Section 4(d) below, each participant in the Plan shall be entitled to a performance award equal to the product of such participant s annual base salary (as of the last day of the applicable Performance Period) multiplied by such participant s Award Percentage (as defined in Section 4(b) below).
- (b) The Administrator shall assign for each Participant (1) a range of base salary percentages (the EPS Component ) to a range of EPS Growth percentages; (2) a range of base salary percentages (the Roe Component ) to a range of Roe Growth points. For purposes of the Plan, the number and percentages assigned to a particular participant pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence shall be collectively referred to as the Award Components. A sample Award Component Matrix is attached hereto as Exhibit 1. Each participant s Award Percentage shall mean the sum of (1) the EPS Component that corresponds to the Company s EPS Growth, (2) the Revenue Component that corresponds to the Company s Roe Growth. For purposes of the Plan:
- (i) EPS Growth shall mean the percentage growth of the Company s diluted net income per share, as disclosed by the Company on its audited financial statements, from the Base Year (as defined below) to the Final Year (as defined below).
- (ii) Revenue Growth shall mean the percentage growth of the Company s revenue, as disclosed by the Company on its audited financial statements, from the Base Year to the Final Year.

B-1

## **Table of Contents**

- (iii) ROE Growth shall mean the amount (expressed in basis points) by which the Company s return on equity (total net income for such year divided by the average total stockholders equity for the four quarters of such year) for the Final Year exceeds the Company s return on equity for the Base Year.
- (iv) Base Year shall mean the year ended December 31 in the year immediately preceding the applicable Performance Period.
- (v) Final Year shall mean the year ended on the last day of such Performance Period.
- (vi) On or before the latest possible date that will not jeopardize the qualification of awards for treatment as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code (to the extent applicable), the Committee shall have the discretion to include or exclude unusual, atypical or non-recurring items in determining the Award Components for a particular Performance Period.
- (c) In the event of any change in corporate capitalization of the Company, such as a stock split, stock dividend or other distribution of stock, a proportionate adjustment shall be made to the calculation of the awards granted hereunder.
- (d) Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan to the contrary, the following provisions shall be applicable to participation in the Plan by any individual whose total compensation for any year exceeds the amount specified by Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, if any portion of such participant s compensation would otherwise be non-deductible by the Company pursuant to that Section:
- (i) Each such participant s performance award for any Performance Period shall be based solely on the achievement of the goals applicable pursuant to Section 4 (b) above.
- (ii) With respect to each such participant, no bonus shall be payable hereunder except upon written certification by the Administrator that the applicable performance goals have been satisfied to a particular extent.
- (iii) The specific performance goals to be attained for the year shall be determined by a committee consisting of at least two members of the Board each of whom shall qualify as an outside director (within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code).
- (iv) The specific performance goals shall be established by such committee no later than 90 days after the beginning of the Performance Period to which they relate.

## 5. Cash and Deferred Awards.

- (a) Performance awards for each Performance Period shall be payable as follows:
- (i) An amount equal to 50% of the performance award (the Cash Award ) shall be paid in cash as soon as practicable after the end of the Performance Period (but in no event later than March 15 of the year following the end of the Performance Period); and
- (ii) An amount equal to 50% of the performance award (the Deferred Award ), including interest thereon as set forth in Section 6 hereof, shall be paid in cash as soon as practicable after the date of vesting (but in no event later than March 15 of the year following the date of vesting), determined pursuant to Section 7 hereof.
- (b) Subject to Section 4(c) above, the maximum amount of a performance award that may be awarded pursuant to Section 4(b) hereof to a participant with respect to any Performance Period pursuant to this Plan shall be limited to \$3,000,000. The Deferred Award portion of each performance award shall accrue interest as contemplated by Section 6 hereof.
- 6. **Interest on Deferred Award.** An amount equal to the Deferred Award granted to each participant pursuant hereto shall be credited to a bookkeeping account maintained by the Company in the name of each

B-2

participant (a Deferred Account ) as of the last day of each Performance Period with respect to which a Deferred Award is payable. The portions of a participant s Deferred Award shall accrue interest from the first day after the end of the applicable Performance Period until the date such portion has vested, at a rate per annum equal to the Prime Rate (as published in *The Wall Street Journal*) adjusted quarterly on the first day of each January, April, July and October.

## 7. Vesting.

- (a) A participant whose employment with the Company or one of its subsidiaries is terminated during any Performance Period shall not be entitled to the payment of a performance award under the Plan for such Performance Period.
- (b) A participant s right to receive a Cash Award for any Performance Period shall vest on the close of business on the last day of such Performance Period.
- (c) A participant s right to receive a Deferred Award or any portion thereof for any Performance Period shall vest with respect to one-third of the Deferred Award on each one year anniversary of the end of the Performance Period to which the Deferred Award relates, over a total of three years; provided that if the participant is not an employee of the Company or one of its subsidiaries on any such date, then such award or any portion thereof shall not vest, except as hereinafter provided. If the participant is not an employee of the Company or one or more of its subsidiaries on any such date as a result of the participant s normal retirement at the age of 65, death or total disability, the participant or his beneficiary designated pursuant to Section 10 hereof shall be entitled to payment of the entire Deferred Award as soon as practicable after such retirement following normal retirement age, death or total disability. An individual shall be deemed to have suffered a total disability, pursuant to \$409A(a)(2)(C) of the Code, if the individual is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or metal impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, or is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, receiving income replacement benefits for a period not less than three (3) months under an accident and health plan covering employees of the Company.
- 8. Change of Control. In the event of a Change of Control of the Company, (i) each Performance Period which has not yet ended shall end as of the calendar quarter coincident with or next following the date of such Change of Control, (ii) each unpaid Cash Award from such Performance Periods and each unpaid Deferred Award from such Performance Periods and from prior Performance Periods shall vest as of the close of the business on the last day of each such Performance Period (as determined in accordance with clause (i)), (iii) the Administrator shall cause the performance awards payable to participants to be promptly calculated, and (iv) the Company shall pay such performance awards to participants as promptly as practicable following the Administrator's determination, notwithstanding any Plan provision to the contrary. In calculating the performance awards payable to participants in connection with a Change in Control, the Administrator shall (a) decrease the Award Components on a pro rata basis to account for the decreased length of the applicable Performance Period, and (b) discount the performance awards to account for the time value of money as required by Section 162(m) of the Code. For purposes of Section 8, Change of Control shall have the same meaning as defined in the Company's 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for any awards that constitute a nonqualified deferred compensation plan within the meaning of Section 409A(d) of the Code and provide for an accelerated payment in connection with a Change of Control, Change of Control shall have the same meaning as set forth in any regulations, revenue procedure, revenue rulings or other pronouncements issued by the Secretary of the United States Treasury pursuant to Section 409A of the Code, applicable to such plans.
- 9. **Participants** Interest. A participant s benefits hereunder shall at all times be reflected on the Company s books as a general unsecured and unfunded obligation of the Company and the Plan shall not give any person any right or security interest in any asset of the Company nor shall it imply any trust or segregation of assets by the Company.

B-3

- 10. **Designation of Beneficiaries.** A participant from time to time may name in writing any person or persons (who may be named concurrently, contingently or successively) to whom his or her benefits are to be paid if he or she dies before complete payment of such benefits. Each such beneficiary designation will revoke all prior designations by the participant with respect to the Plan, shall not require the consent of any previously named beneficiary, shall be in a form prescribed by the Administrator, and will be effective only when filed with the Administrator during the participant s lifetime. If the participant fails to designate a beneficiary before his or her death, as provided above, or if the beneficiary designated by the participant dies before the date of the participant s death or before complete payment of the participant s benefits, the Company, in its discretion, may pay the remaining unpaid portion of the participant s benefits to either (i) one or more of the participant s relatives by blood, adoption or marriage and in such proportion as the Company determines; or (ii) the legal representative or representatives of the estate of the last to die of the participant and his or her designated beneficiary.
- 11. **Facility of Payment.** If a participant or his or her beneficiary is entitled to payments under the Plan and in the Company s opinion such person becomes in any way incapacitated so as to be unable to manage his or her financial affairs, the Company may make payments to the participant s or such beneficiary s legal representative, or to a relative or friend of the participant or beneficiary for such person s benefit, or the Company may make payments for the benefit of the participant or beneficiary in any manner that it considers advisable. Any payment made in accordance with the preceding sentence shall be a full and complete discharge of any liability for such payment hereunder.
- 12. **Non-Alienation of Benefits.** All rights and benefits under the Plan are personal to the participant and neither the Plan nor any right or interest of a participant or any person arising under the Plan is subject to voluntary or involuntary alienation, sale, transfer, or assignment without the Company s consent.
- 13. **Withholding for Taxes.** Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Plan, the Company may withhold from any payment made by it under the Plan such amount or amounts as may be required for purposes of complying with the tax withholding or other provisions of the Internal Revenue Code or the Social Security Act or any state s income tax act or for purposes of paying any estate, inheritance or other tax attributable to any amounts payable hereunder.
- 14. **No Employment Rights.** The Plan is not a contract of employment and participation in the Plan will not cause any participant to have any rights to continue as an employee of the Company (or any affiliated entity), or any right or claim to any benefit under the Plan, unless the right or claim has specifically vested under the Plan.
- 15. **Administrator or Company Determinations Final.** Each determination provided for in the Plan shall be made by the Administrator or the Company, as the case may be, under such procedures as may from time to time be prescribed by the Administrator or the Company. Any such determination shall be conclusive. The Administrator, in its sole and absolute discretion, may reduce, but not increase, the amount of any award otherwise payable to a participant, based on any subjective or objective factors that the Administrator determines to be appropriate. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan to the contrary, neither the Company nor the Administrator is empowered to make any determinations hereunder that cause the Plan to fail to comply with the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code.
- 16. **Amendment or Termination.** The Administrator may in its sole discretion terminate or amend the Plan from time to time. No such termination or amendment shall alter a participant s right to receive a vested award under the Plan.
- 17. **Successors.** Unless otherwise agreed to, the Plan is binding on and will inure to the benefit of any successor to the Company, whether by way of merger, consolidation, purchase or otherwise.

B-4

## **Table of Contents**

- 18. **Controlling Law.** The Plan shall be constructed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Illinois, and shall be operated and administered in accordance with \$409A of the Code, to the extent applicable.
- 19. **Date of Adoption.** The Plan has been adopted by the Compensation Committee of the Board as of January 27, 2006, subject to stockholder approval, and by the stockholders of the Company as of May 8, 2006.
- 20. **Compliance with Section 409A**. The Plan is intended to comply with Section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, the Plan shall be interpreted, operated and administered consistent with this intent. In that regard, and notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, the Company reserves the right to amend the Plan or any award granted under the Plan, by action of the Administrator, without the consent of any affected Participant, to the extent deemed necessary or appropriate for purposes of maintaining compliance with Section 409A of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder. In addition, any payments under the Plan of an amount that is deferred compensation under Section 409A of the Code in connection with a Participant s termination of employment shall not be made earlier than six (6) months after the date of termination of employment to the extent required by Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code.

B-5

Exhibit 1

# **Award Component Matrix**

**Participant: Performance Period:** 

 $\begin{array}{cc} EPS & EPS \\ GROWTH \, (\%) & COMPONENT \, (\%) \end{array}$ 

 $\begin{array}{ccc} \text{REVENUE} & \text{REVENUE} \\ \text{GROWTH}\left(\%\right) & \text{COMPONENT}\left(\%\right) \end{array}$ 

 $\begin{array}{ccc} ROE \ GROWTH & ROE \\ (basis \ points) & COMPONENT \ (\%) \end{array}$ 

B-6

LKQ CORPORATION

ATTN: VICTOR CASINI

500 WEST MADISON STREET

**SUITE 2800** 

CHICAGO, IL 60661

#### VOTE BY INTERNET - www.proxyvote.com

Use the Internet to transmit your voting instructions and for electronic delivery of information up until 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time the day before the cut-off date or meeting date. Have your proxy card in hand when you access the web site and follow the instructions to obtain your records and to create an electronic voting instruction form.

#### VOTE BY PHONE - 1-800-690-6903

Use any touch-tone telephone to transmit your voting instructions up until 11:59 P.M. Eastern Time the day before the cut-off date or meeting date. Have your proxy card in hand when you call and then follow the instructions.

## VOTE BY MAIL

Mark, sign and date your proxy card and return it in the postage-paid envelope we have provided or return it to Vote Processing, c/o Broadridge, 51 Mercedes Way, Edgewood, NY 11717.

TO VOTE, MARK BLOCKS BELOW IN BLUE OR BLACK INK AS FOLLOWS:

THIS PROXY CARD IS VALID ONLY WHEN SIGNED AND DATED.

KEEP THIS PORTION FOR YOUR RECORDS
DETACH AND RETURN THIS PORTION
ONLY

For Withhold For All To withhold authority to vote for any individual nominee(s), All All Except mark For All Except and write the number(s) of the

nominee(s) on the line below.

The Board of Directors recommends you vote

FOR the following:
1. Election of Directors

Nominees

01 A. Clinton Allen 02 Kevin F. Flynn 03 Ronald G. Foster 04 Joseph M. Holsten 05 Blythe J.

McGarvie

06 Paul M. Meister 07 John F. O'Brien 08 Robert L. Wagman 09 William M.

Webster, IV

For Against Abstain

The Board of Directors recommends you vote FOR proposals 2., 3., 4. and 5.

2.	Ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the indeper Corporation for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2012.	endent registered public accounting firm of LKQ	
3.	Approval of an amendment to the LKQ Corporation 1998 Equity Incent directors and to increase the number of shares of LKQ common stock a described in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting.		
4.	Approval of an amendment to the LKQ Corporation Long Term Incenti due to unusual, atypical or non-recurring items, as described in the Prox		ereunder 
5.	Approval, on an advisory basis, of the compensation of the named execu	utive officers of LKQ Corporation.	
<b>NOTE:</b> With discretionary authority upon such other matters as may properly come before the meeting.			
Ple	ase indicate if you plan to attend this meeting  Yes No		
Please sign exactly as your name(s) appear(s) hereon. When signing as attorney, executor, administrator, or other fiduciary, please give full title as such. Joint owners should each sign personally. All holders must sign. If a corporation or partnership, please sign in full corporate or partnership name, by authorized officer.			
	Signature [PLEASE SIGN WITHIN BOX] Date	Signature (Joint Owners)	Date

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Annual Meeting: The Notice & Proxy Statement, Form 10-K is/are available at <a href="https://www.proxyvote.com">www.proxyvote.com</a>.

# LKQ CORPORATION

**Annual Meeting of Stockholders** 

May 7, 2012 1:30 PM CST

This proxy is solicited by the Board of Directors

The stockholder(s) hereby appoint(s) Walter P. Hanley and Matthew J. McKay, or either of them, as proxies, each with the power to appoint his substitute, and hereby authorizes them to represent and to vote, as designated on the reverse side of this ballot, all of the shares of Common stock of LKQ CORPORATION that the stockholder(s) is/are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of stockholder(s) to be held at 01:30 PM, CST on 5/7/2012, at 135 South LaSalle Street, 43rd Floor, Chicago, Illinois 60603, and any adjournment or postponement thereof.

This proxy, when properly executed, will be voted in the manner directed herein. If no such direction is made, this proxy will be voted in accordance with the Board of Directors recommendations.

Continued and to be signed on reverse side